
Tymoteusz Skiba: Witold Gom-
browicz and Bruno Schulz. Par-
allel Biographies

Witold Gombrowicz

Prose writer, playwright, essayist. Friend of Bruno Schulz.
Manager of immaturity, master of ridiculous, caricatured mental machinery, 

demonologist of culture, �erce tracker of cultural lies, positivist and worshipper 
of fact, master of relativism and believer in concreteness, noble Toreador, future 
dragon slayer and material for a great humanist1.

In the 1930s, he was a regular visitor to literary cafés in Warsaw, such as 
Ziemiańska and Zodiak, which he might have taken Schulz to. During their 
discussions, he acted as “Socrates, who dialectically ‘tripped up’ everyone and 
everything”2, making ironic comments making poses, mocking, provoking, 
exposing the weaknesses of his interlocutors, and shattering trivialities and con-
ventions – both in life and in literature. With the Skamandrites, he assumed the 
pose of a simpleton, and with Witkacy he pretended to be a great aristocrat. He 
turned his life into theatre. He was a champion at making faces. He claimed that 
his ambition was to write a play purely for facial expressions, without any words, 
and he was eager to show what such a play could look like3. Many writers avoided 
his table at the cafés – for instance, Adam Ważyk, who recalls that he only talked 
to him once about something important. When Gombrowicz asked him about 
the best contemporary writers, Ważyk mentioned Iwaszkiewicz and Nałkowska, 
to which Gombrowicz allegedly replied: “What? �is is paper, arti�cial literature. 
�e only outstanding contemporary writer is Bruno Schulz. He creates his own, 
unique world. �is is new, unlike anything else”4.

1 Schulz used such terms to refer to Gombrowicz in his texts.
2 T. Breza, “Jak pojawili się Witold i Bruno”, in: idem, Nelly o kolegach i o sobie, Warszawa 1983, p. 369.
3 J. Siedlecka, Jaśnie Panicz, Gdańsk 1992, p. 211.
4 Ibidem, p. 226.
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Friendship with Schulz

Schulz and Gombrowicz were de�nitely friends, even though they were appar-
ently not interested in the private lives of each other. �ey were mainly interested 
in topics related to art and literary life. Schulz disregarded personal topics, but 
“brought from Drohobych an insatiable desire for spiritual and intellectual 
coexistence”5. Gombrowicz was interested primarily in intellectual friendship: 
“Schulz was an extremely close person to me, we talked for hours about the issues 
of art that fascinated us, and yet I was a hundred times closer to my �rst cousin 
from the countryside, I was not interested in Schulz’s private existence; to me, 
he was consciousness and sensitivity in abstracto”6. �ere is certainly a lot of 
exaggeration in Gombrowicz’s words. In his letters to family, in memoirs, as well 
as in scraps of the writers’ private correspondence that have survived to this day, 
you can �nd traces of mutual care and a�ection: “Dear Bruno, it was a great 
weight o� my mind to hear your well-being improved. May this positive spell 
last”7.

1933: Pamiętnik z okresu dojrzewania and Sklepy cynamonowe

�ey both made their debuts in 1933, at the same “Rój” Publishing Society, with 
collections of short stories, the publication of which had to be half paid for by 
their families. Pamiętnik z okresu dojrzewania [Memoir from Adolescence] was 
�nanced by Witold Gombrowicz’s father, while Sklepy cynamonowe [�e 
Cinnamon Shops] by Schulz’s brother. Both books, di�erent and unique, also 
had a common denominator – they uncompromisingly dealt with both conven-
tional reality and realist literature, using fantastic motifs, mysti�cation, irony, 
and elements of the grotesque. Despite the similarities, the status of two debutants 
in the literary environment was di�erent. Schulz entered literary salons and was 
appreciated, “the elite knew and respected him”8; many positive, detailed reviews 
of his work were published, and he himself could publish further stories – while 
Gombrowicz felt “disrespected and ridiculed”9. �is state of a�airs has been ana-
lysed by Klementyna Suchanow. Here is one observation she made: “Schulz’s 
debut, reviewed by the same critic, Leon Piwiński, takes two full columns in 

5 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie. Wędrówki po Argentynie, Warszawa 1990, p. 91.
6 Ibidem, p. 91.
7 B. Schulz, Dzieła zebrane, t. 5: Księga listów, zebrał i przygotował do druku J. Ficowski, uzupełnił S. 

Danecki, Gdańsk 2016, list od Witolda Gombrowicza, no. III 10, p. 278.
8 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
9 K. Suchanow, Gombrowicz. Ja, Geniusz, vol. 1, Wołowiec 2017, p. 241.
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‘Wiadomości Literackie’, and is accompanied by a strikingly large self-portrait 
of the writer, while the review of Memoirs is an incomplete column sandwiched 
between �ve others, the space of which is also taken up by the advertising 
below”10.

1934: First meetings at Służewska and Chocimska

It is not known for certain how they met. Gombrowicz recalled that it was prob-
ably Schulz who called him: “He’s read my Pamiętnik z okresu dojrzewania and 
would like to talk to me”11. Pamiętnik was published at the turn of April and May 
1933, but the writers met a�er the publication of Sklepy cynamonowe, probably 
in the �rst half of 1934, in Gombrowicz’s apartment at ul. Służewska 312. �is is 
how their meetings, discussions and conversations began, which they “usually 
enjoyed walking”13. Gombrowicz recalled years later: “It’s funny to think that 
when poor Bruno Schulz visited me in ul. Służewska, the two of us were already 
authors of books that were to become famous in Europe”14. During the �rst 
meeting, Schulz allegedly expressed his admiration for Pamiętnik: “What a vol-
ume! I am dazzled by your short stories… I couldn’t produce anything like this 
myself ”15 – this assessment was also repeated later, among others in a letter to 
Zenon Waśniewski of January 28, 1935 (“great – Pamiętnik z okresu 
dojrzewania!”)16 and to Romana Halpern on November 29, 1936: “Gombrowicz 
is a very interesting writer, one of the most interesting. Do you know his Pamiętnik 
z okresu dojrzewania? Please read it – it’s a great book”17.

Initially, Gombrowicz did not trust all the reassuring comments from Schulz, 
who, in his opinion, also lavished praise on others, but he soon found out that 
these words spoken during the �rst meeting were not only sincere, but also the be-
ginning of their friendship. “No one has ever shown me such generous friendship 

10 Ibidem, p. 240–241.
11 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
12 The Gombrowicz family had lived in ul. Służewska since 1911. It was a spacious apartment with 

eight rooms on the second �oor of the tenement house. The building does not exist today, and ul. 
Służewska was rebuilt in a slightly di�erent location. In mid-1934, the family moved to ul. Chocim-
ska 35. The mother and sister took up a four-room apartment on the �rst �oor, Gombrowicz moved 
to a smaller, two-room apartment without a bathroom, only with a tap and a sink – guaranteeing 
independence, but at the same time located next to his mother’s place, where he could get dinner 
and use the bathroom. The apartment was located at number 15. See K. Suchanow, Gombrowicz, 
vol. 1, chapter: “Służewska 3” and “Chocimska 35”; J. Siedlecka, Jaśnie Panicz, p. 182–188.

13 W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik 1953–1969, Kraków 2013, p. 655.
14 Idem, Listy do rodziny, oprac. J. Margański, Kraków 2019, p. 311.
15 Idem, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
16 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Zenon Waśniewski, no. I 39, p. 83.
17 See ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 83, p. 143.
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and supported me so zealously”18 – he recalled in 1961. Gombrowicz repeatedly 
emphasized that such sel�ess support in the literary community was something 
unheard of – and that he himself was unable to repay Schulz. �at is not entirely 
true. According to Aleksander Fiut, “from the very �rst moment they noticed 
each other and appreciated each other’s talents and greatness”19. Gombrowicz 
expressed this many times20. Years later, he called him “the most excellent art-
ist of all those had met in Warsaw”, “the most European artist, with the right to 
sit among the highest intellectual and artistic aristocracy of the continent”, and 
his prose seemed to him “creative and immaculate”21; he added, though, a�er 
a while that the high form he had developed, together with great respect for art 
and certain perversions limited him like an ivory tower22.

Even before moving to the apartment in ul. Chocimska, probably in the sum-
mer of 1934, Gombrowicz organized a party, to which he invited many art-
ists and writers, aristocrats and bohemians. He welcomed guests and proudly 
showed them around the tenement house in ul. Służewska23: “He was proud of 
his apartment. ‘My Biedermeiers, my Simlers’ – he showed them around like 
a tour guide”24. Schulz was also among the guests. According to Tadeusz Breza, 
he felt a bit uncomfortable in the huge rooms of this apartment. He was tired 
but at the same time stunned by the noisy atmosphere of the party. Finally, he 
lay down on the couch and kept saying “What an orgy!”25 – though in reality 
there was no orgy.

1934–1935: Bruno, Witkacy and Gomber

Together with Stanisław Ignacy Witkiewicz, Schulz and Gombrowicz were the 
most original literary personas of the interwar period in Poland. �eir works 
were revolutionary, and at the same time di�cult, incomprehensible and “stand-
ing in opposition to Polish literary life”26. �ey did not form any literary group, 

18 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
19 A. Fiut, “Pojedynek o doktorową z Wilczej”, in: Czytanie Schulza. Materiały międzynarodowej sesji 

naukowej Bruno Schulz – w stulecie urodzin i w pięćdziesięciolecie śmierci. Instytut Filologii Polskiej Uni-
wersytetu Jagiellońskiego, Kraków, 8–10 czerwca 1992, pod red. J. Jarzębskiego, Kraków 1994, p. 152.

20 See among others, Gombrowicz’s article in “Kurier Poranny” of November 5, 1935, reprinted in: Wi-
told Gombrowicz, “O myślach chudych. Trudna literatura i pro domo mea”, in: idem, Varia 1. Czytelnicy 
i krytycy. Proza, reportaże, krytyka literacka, eseje, przedmowy, wstęp W. Bolecki, Kraków 2020.

21 Idem, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
22 Ibidem, p. 94.
23 Tadeusz Breza, in his memoir from 1969, writes about ul. Natolińska because the former ul. 

Służewska, together with the Art Nouveau tenement house number three where Gombrowicz 
lived, no longer exists. The completely destroyed street was rebuilt in a slightly di�erent place.

24 T. Breza, “Jak pojawili się Witold i Bruno”, p. 369.
25 Ibidem.
26 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 92.
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or have a common artistic program – and yet they all enjoyed the attention of 
the public in the interwar period and of literary historians in later years. “We 
were, a�er all, a trinity” – Gombrowicz summed up, calling Witkacy a desperate 
madman, Schulz a drowned madman, and himself a rebellious madman. �is 
catchy, seemingly gimmicky classi�cation was an attempt to determine their 
unconventional (“mad”) attitude to form: Witkacy’s tragedy, Schulz’s abandon 
and Gombrowicz’s rebellion.

Schulz organised their �rst meeting in 193427, leading Gombrowicz to 
Witkacy’s apartment in ul. Bracka28. �e door was opened by a �gure with the 
stature of a dwarf, who began to grow in size before their eyes. It was actually 
the host who crouched down and slowly rose up. Gombrowicz was quite critical 
of both such pranks and the character of Witkiewicz as a whole. He saw him 
as a man of extraordinary intelligence, but also a boring and tiring egocentric, 
in whom his own �aws were re�ected “as in a crooked mirror, monstrous and 
bloated to apocalyptic proportions”29. Witkiewicz also treated Gombrowicz 
(whom he called Des Gombres) rather warily. Nevertheless, they kept in touch. In 
1935, Witkiewicz even showed him the manuscripts of his plays, and Gombrowicz 
publicly considered them the most interesting texts he had read around that 
time – next to Joyce’s Ulysses and Nałkowska’s Granica30.

Schulz met Gombrowicz and Witkiewicz several times during the Christmas 
break at the turn of 1934 and 1935. He was then in the capital with Józe�na 
Szelińska, who recalled that they spent time “in the company of his relatives and 
friends who were delighted with Bruno: Witkiewicz, Gombrowicz and Breza”31. 
Schulz spent New Year’s Eve in the Witkiewicz’s family apartment at ul. Bracka 
23. �at evening, Witkacy painted portraits of his guests, Tadeusz and Zo�a 
Breza, and he wrote an obscene poem dedicated to Schulz32. Late in the eve-
ning, Tadeusz Breza, and, most likely, Schulz and Witkacy, too, went to a party 
organized by Gombrowicz: “I organized an artsy binge in my mother’s apartment 

27 Klementyna Suchanow claims that it was December 1934, see Gombrowicz, vol. 1, p. 267.
28 It was the apartment of Witkacy’s wife, Jadwiga Witkiewiczowa, and also his Warsaw address, where 

he most often spent spring and autumn (he stayed in Zakopane in summer and winter). His studio 
and the famous “museum of horrors” were in ul. Bracka. Apparently, a company of portrait makers 
also operated there: “St. I. Witkiewicz Ltd announce their arrival in Warsaw in ul. Bracka 23 apart-
ment 42, telephone 227-18, call 10-1”, see J. Witkiewiczowa, “Wspomnienia o Stanisławie Ignacym 
Witkiewiczu”, in: S. I. Witkiewicz, Listy do żony (1936–1939), appendix J. Witkiewiczowa, przygotowała 
do druku A. Micińska, oprac. i przypisami opatrzył J. Degler, Warszawa 2012, p. 572–573.

29 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 93.
30 Jaką najciekawszą książkę przeczytałem w r. 1935. Ankieta tygodnika “Prosto z mostu”, “Prosto z Mo-

stu. Tygodnik literacko-artystyczny”, 2 lutego 1935, no. 5 (59), p. 5.
31 Letter from Józe�na Szelińska to Jerzy Ficowski. Quoted after: J. Ficowski, Regiony wielkiej herezji 

i okolice. Bruno Schulz i jego mitologia, Sejny 2002, p. 325.
32 See S. Okowicz, Śliwka i tacet. O spotkaniach Schulza i Witkacego, „Schulz/Forum” 8, 2016.
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in ul. Chocimska […]. �e party lasted until six in the morning and was a vis-
ible sign of how �rmly I had established myself in the Warsaw literary world. 
I don’t remember anymore who was there, but in any case Breza, Mauersbergers 
and Tonio Sobański must have been there, as well as Rudnicki and probably 
Choromański. �ere was a brotherhood of drunks led by Światek Karpiński and 
‘Minie’, i.e. Janusz Minkiewicz. �ere were various actresses, as well as Zdzisław 
Czermański, Kanarek (today a famous painter in the United States)… and maybe 
Witkacy and probably Bruno Schulz…”33. A�er returning to Drohobych, on 
January 28, 1935, Schulz wrote to Zenon Waśniewski: “In Warsaw I made a lot of 
interesting acquaintances: Witkacy, T. Breza, Wittlin, Czechowicz, Gombrowicz 
(excellent Pamiętnik z okresu dojrzewania!)”34.

1935: Illustrations and compliments

Gombrowicz recalled that Schulz o�en visited him in the apartment in ul. 
Służewska, and later also in ul. Chocimska: “He was an inconspicuous man and 
I’m afraid no one would look at me and him and realise how powerful giants of 
world literature were in front of them”35. It was probably during these meetings 
that the idea for Schulz to illustrate Gombrowicz’s works arose. However, between 
February and March 1935, Schulz wrote to Wacław Czarski – the editor-in-chief 
of “Tygodnik Ilustrowany” – that Gombrowicz had not sent him the promised 
text to be illustrated. It was probably supposed to be the short story Tośka. 
Fragmenty, which was published on July 14, 1935 in “Tygodnik”36, or a fragment 
of Ferdydurke, which was published in the July issue of “Skamander”37. �e idea 
of Gombrowicz’s works illustrated by Schulz materialised two years later, with 
the book edition of Ferdydurke of 1937.

Gombrowicz valued �e Street of Crocodiles very highly, which he admitted 
publicly – for instance, in “Kurier Poranny”, where on November 5, 1935, the 
article “O myślach chudych” [Of Lean �oughts] was published, which was a re-
sponse to Ignacy Fik’s accusations of excessive allegiance to Michał Choromański 
and the group of penmen surrounding him38. On this occasion, Gombrowicz 

33 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 85.
34 B. Schulz, Księga listów, list do Zenona Waśniewskiego, no. I 39, p. 83.
35 W. Gombrowicz, Listy do rodziny, p. 279.
36 The story is printed without illustrations, see W. Gombrowicz, Tośka. (Fragmenty), “Tygodnik Ilus-

trowany”, 14 lipca 1935, no. 28, p. 556–557.
37 The fragment is illustrated with one drawing by Feliks Topolski; it was certainly the editor’s 

choice, not Gombrowicz's,, see W. Gombrowicz, Ferdydurke, “Skamander. Miesięcznik literacki”, 
lipiec 1935, p. 264–284.

38 Gombrowicz argued with the article by Ignacy Fik, Literatura choromaniaków, “Tygodnik Artys-
tów”, 23 lutego 1935, no. 15, p. 1–2.



Witold Gombrowicz, �rst page of The Open 
Letter to Bruno Schulz, “Studio” 1936, no. 7
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complimented his friend: “Here is a writer of the highest class in Poland, with-
out exaggeration, truly the highest… an artist to the core, whose �e Street of 
Crocodiles provided me with the true delight of the elite, both ‘healthy’ and ‘sick’. 
An worker, absorbed by the completely tiring and very di�cult task of throwing 
out his gloomy and wonderful vision, of a man who writes not what he wants, 
but what he must, a writer who is a writer precisely because he is himself, re�ned, 
subtle, revealing, operating on the border of what is expressible, all striving to-
wards his di�cult calling”39.

February–October 1936: “Party with Witold”, or three letters in “Studio”

On February 4, 1936, in the evening, Schulz and Gombrowicz met in Warsaw at 
Zo�a Nałkowska’s. �e meeting was also attended by the diplomat Władysław 
Baranowski, the painter Henryk Berlewi and the writer Włodzimierz Pietrzak40. 
�ey all discussed literary style inspired by Gombrowicz’s “astonishing, witty, 
polemical”41 essay “O stylu Zo�i Nałkowskiej”. A month later, Schulz wrote to 
Andrzej Pleśniewicz: “If you see Witold, please send him my warm greetings. 
Tell him not to be angry that I have not written to him yet”42. Nałkowska notes 
that Schulz and Gombrowicz also visited her on July 15, 1936. Certainly, both of 
them visited her place in ul. Marszałkowska 4 quite o�en. Nałkowska included 
both Gombrowicz, as well as Schulz in her “regular company” composed of 
writers and poets: Adolf Rudnicki, Alfred Łaszowski, Tadeusz Breza, Włodzimierz 
Pietrzak, Bolesław Miciński, Elżbieta Szemplińska43. Years later, Gombrowicz 
even wondered whether it was at Zo�a Nałkowska’s place that he met Bruno 
Schulz44.

In Nałkowska’s society, Schulz and Gombrowicz also met with Bogusław 
Kuczyński, her secretary and then partner. Kuczyński, who had been jealous 
of Schulz (in July 1935, he destroyed a copy of �e Street of Crocodiles with 

39 W. Gombrowicz, “O myślach chudych”, in: idem, Varia 1, p. 192.
40 Writer, poet, literary critic. He wrote an article about the correspondence between Schulz and 

Gombrowicz, which was published in “Studio” (see Święte szukanie, “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki” 
1936, no. 9) and a negative review of Sanatorium pod Klepsydrą (see Bluszcz na ruinach, “Prosto z Mos-
tu” 1938, no. 27). He died �ghting in the Warsaw Uprising. In 1948, his essay Mit bohatera [The 
Myth of the Hero] was published posthumously, in which he wrote about Ferdydurke and Sanato-
rium Under the Sign of the Hourglass that they were works that lead nowhere, were falsi�ed, and 
pursued strangeness. They were by no means immoral, but “just very boring. Boredom begins 
with the question: ‘so what?’ and ends with a yawn” (“Nowiny Literackie” 1948, no. 12).

41 Z. Nałkowska, Dzienniki IV: 1930–1939. Część 2 (1935–1939), oprac., wstęp i komentarz H. Kirchner, 
Warszawa 1988, p. 97.

42 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Zenon Waśniewski, no. I 39, p. 83.
43 Z. Nałkowska, Dzienniki IV. Część 2 (1935–1939), p. 138.
44 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
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a dedication for Nałkowska)45 – invited him and Gombrowicz to publish texts 
in the monthly literary journal “Studio”, of which he was the editor. �e most 
spectacular e�ect of this cooperation was the exchange of letters between the 
writers, which were published in October 193646. It is generally believed that 
Bogusław Kuczyński was the originator and initiator of such open correspon-
dence in the magazine, but it seems more likely that it was Gombrowicz’s idea47: 
“Bogusław wants us to write for him in Studio – isn’t it better to write for ourselves 
in Studio? – and it’s probably best to write to each other? – yes, to write to each 
other is more pleasant, how much more pleasant to shoot, aiming at a speci�c 
person, than to shoot into space with a general circular addressed to everyone 
and therefore to no one”48.

“So I shoot at you with the thought of this woman”

Gombrowicz, an experienced debunker of forms and conventions, “shot” at 
Schulz with the opinion of one doctor’s wife from Wilcza49: “Bruno Schulz, she 
said, is either a sick pervert or a poseur; but most likely a poseur. He’s just pre-
tending to be so”50. All this to check whether “Schulz, surprised on the same 
road by a ridiculous accident with a woman, would manage to maintain good, 
sovereign form or would disgrace himself ”51. Why was Schulz the addressee of 
the letter and the target of Gombrowicz’s provocation? It is not without signi�-
cance that both addressed the issue of form in their works, but social consider-
ations may have been decisive. Gombrowicz was simply sure that Schulz would 
answer his letter. In 1936, Schulz was better established on the literary scene than 
Gombrowicz (“his literary situation was, a�er all, much more solid than mine. 
He hadn’t reached a wider audience, but the elite knew and respected him”52. 

45 “He tore up the book, but he also burned it so that there would be nothing left, so that it could 
not be collected or glued together” – Z. Nałkowska, Dzienniki IV. Part 2 (1935–1939), p. 16.

46 “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki”, październik 1936, no. 7. Reprint of all three letters: W. Gombrowicz, 
Polemiki i dyskusje. Varia 2, Kraków 2004; Schulz’s letter was reprinted in The Book of Letters with-
out Gombrowicz’s letters, even though these three letters constitute an integral whole, and can 
be read only in their own context and should thus be interpreted in relation to each other. They 
have even been called an “epistolary triptych”.

47 Gombrowicz wrote about the exchange of letters as an “experiment” he provoked – see W. Gom-
browicz, Łańcuch nietaktów, “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki”, listopad 1936, no. 8.

48 Idem, List otwarty do Brunona Schulza, “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki”, październik 1936, no. 7, 
p. 209.

49 For possible prototypes of the doctor’s wife from ul. Wilcza, see M. Wójcik, Komentarze i przypisy, 
in: B. Schulz, Dzieła zebrane, t. 7: Szkice krytyczne, koncepcja edytorska W. Bolecki, komentarze 
i przypisy M. Wójcik, oprac. językowe P. Sitkiewicz, Gdańsk 2017, p. 220–221.

50 W. Gombrowicz, List otwarty do Brunona Schulza, p. 209.
51 Ibidem, p. 210–211.
52 Idem, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 90.
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Moreover, both Gombrowicz and Schulz were victims of similar public attacks, 
perhaps not by doctors’ wives, but by literary critics who simpli�ed everything. 
In a text published on November 5, 1935, Gombrowicz described the situation 
of Schulz, whom Ignacy Fik called a “choromaniac” [a reference to Michał 
Choromański]: “Naturally, Schulz cannot answer Fik, because how could he 
possibly reply with his rich, branched, complex and well-di�erentiated thought 
to the lean categorical nature of Mr. Fik. Nevertheless, in his writing, Mr. Fik 
picks on Schulz, and Bruno already thinks that he will have to move on with his 
life as a ‘choromaniac’”53.

Almost a year a�er the publication of the polemic with Ignacy Fik, Gombrowicz 
himself staged a very similar con�ict, with the di�erence that this time he stood 
not at Schulz’s side, but against him. He did not claim that “Schulz cannot an-
swer”, but he demanded a reply. Gombrowicz’s “attack” was aimed at Schulz’s 
elitism, artistry and high, developed style – which, according to Gombrowicz, 
was incomprehensible and useless outside the literary-critical circle: “Your philo-
sophical artistic, poetic style does not predispose you to �ghts with the mothers 
of the doctors’ children”. Your form takes place on high. Come on! Come down 
to earth! […] What would your form be worth if it was only applicable at an 
altitude of two thousand meters above the level of life?”54.

“I hate the doctor’s wife from Wilcza”

Schulz did not take up this game, at least not on Gombrowicz’s terms. “He cow-
ardly �ed from my doctor, masking his retreat with grandiloquence” – 
Gombrowicz commented55. Andrzej Pleśniewicz, in turn, believes that Schulz 
did not escape, but “in a playfully pathetic form expressed his credo as an artist”, 
which was the only proper reaction to Gombrowicz’s attack56. Schulz certainly 
did not allow himself to be thrown out of his own form. He responded in his 
poetic, metaphorical style, comparing the arranged public exchange of letters 
to a corrida, in which Gombrowicz is a bull�ghter, Schulz is a bull, readers are 
the audience, and the doctor’s wife from Wilcza is only a cape (cloth) or an e�gy 
stu�ed with rags with blades hidden behind them and engravings. Schulz ridi-
culed this rhetoric, emphasizing his disregard for the rules in arenas and audi-
ence expectations. He claimed that instead of listening to screams and trivial
opinions, he preferred to take the bull�ghter out of the arena to engage in a quiet 

53 Idem, “O myślach chudych”, p. 192.
54 Idem, List otwarty do Brunona Schulza, p. 211.
55 Idem, Łańcuch nietaktów, p. 275.
56 A. Pleśniewicz, “Rozwichrzone problematy dyskusji literackiej. Spór o doktorową”, in: W. Gombro-

wicz, Polemiki i dyskusje, p. 54.
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conversation with him – but this conciliatory tone was only an appearance. 
Immediately a�er this declaration, Schulz countered the attack: “No, what a para-
dox! You, the defender of forums and their loud acoustics!”57. �is is an accurate 
retort. Gombrowicz was known for hating platitudes and stereotypes; he pro-
voked his interlocutors to prevent ordinary discussions and conventional con-
versations about the weather, and when someone unwisely expressed some trivial 
opinion, Gombrowicz immediately ridiculed them58. Moreover, he himself de-
fended Schulz against the primitive claims of Ignacy Fik59, who, like the doctor’s 
wife from Wilcza, accused Schulz of deviations and aberrations (“Choromania! 
Literature that is twisted and sick”, “created by psychopaths, degenerates, and 
drug addicts” and other perverts and lunatics60). Schulz expressed his surprise 
by asking further questions – as if in disbelief towards Gombrowicz’s a�rmation 
for “lean thoughts”61 – his applause for popular and average opinions62. Schulz 
opposed this fascination with contempt for “philistine obtuseness” and “formulaic 
thinking”. He wrote directly: “I hate the doctor’s wife from Wilcza”, perhaps also 
because her opinion was in line with national-radical literary criticism and anti-
Semitic sentiments63 of the second half of the 1930s. But the doctor’s wife’s voice 
– concluded Schulz – arose in Gombrowicz himself, the crowd hidden in the 
individual that may seem like a powerful force, but it is actually a weakness of 
human nature. �is also includes Gombrowicz’s nature, which can surrender to 
the rhythm of what is popular and mass, just as a trained bear surrenders to the 
sounds of the “gypsy pipe”64.

�e phenomenon of a stupid joke with devastating power – which can de-
feat an opponent regardless of arguments and reasons – is, according to Schulz, 
proof that there is a “cynical and amoral, irrational and mocking” underground 
system of values, symbolized by the doctor’s wife from Wilcza. Schulz consid-
ered Gombrowicz to be the discoverer of this unwritten and mysterious code: 

57 B. Schulz, Do Witolda Gombrowicza, “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki”, październik 1936, no. 7, p. 213.
58 Stefan Otwinowski, among others, was exposed to such ridicule: “Oh, I see, Mr. Stefczyk, that you 

have read the Sunday supplement ‘IKACA’ again – he interrupted Otwinowski with a smile when 
he expressed an opinion that – in Gombrowicz’s view – was stereotypical, good only for the read-
ers of the popular mass ‘Ilustrowany Kurier Codzienny’” – see J. Siedlecka, Jaśnie Panicz, p. 210.

59 W. Gombrowicz, “O myślach chudych”.
60 I. Fik, Literatura choromaniaków, p. 1.
61 Gombrowicz called the revelations of literary critics directed towards the so-called young litera-

ture “lean thoughts”: “In this extreme example, we see how badly lean thought works – how 
much it is out of place” – W. Gombrowicz, “O myślach chudych”, s. 192–193.

62 Jerzy Jarzębski calls Gombrowicz’s mania “a fascination with inferiority and interpersonal clashes 
in that sphere” – see J. Jarzębski, Schulz, Wrocław 1999, p. 58.

63 “Gombrowicz probably did not take into account that the tone of his voice, the tone of self-im-
portant gossip, could have reminded Schulz of the tone with which anti-Semitic slogans were 
shouted at that time” – see J. Jarzębski, Schulz, p. 59.

64 B. Schulz, Do Witolda Gombrowicza, p. 213.
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“I consider it a great merit that you, for the �rst time, led our thoughts and feelings 
to these matters. If I’m not mistaken, you were the �rst to sni� out the dragon in 
its thousand hiding places and get within arm’s length of it”65. Schulz therefore 
changes the corrida space arranged by Gombrowicz (in which the bull�ghter
sneakily kills the bull to the delight of the crowd) into a heroic �ght between 
a knight and a dragon. �e knight is Gombrowicz himself, “armed with powerful 
tools of murder”, and the dragon is an irrational system of values, which is to be 
killed and sacri�ced on the altar of higher values, such as art and humanity. Even 
though Schulz expressed his concern about such alliances with the dragon, he 
still – perversely and somewhat ironically – considered his adversary to be a great 
humanist who would tame the inhuman. Gombrowicz himself would later write 
about this passage: “in the second part of his reply, he made a playfully pathetic 
appeal that put me in an extremely di�cult position”66.

“Bruno, you’re an old kid, like all of us!”

In response, Gombrowicz attacked with a whole arsenal of childish artifacts, 
which he contrasted with the high values supported by Schulz. �ese include 
a speci�c lexicon: twats, panties, shins, legs and a full catalogue of issues related 
to calves. Gombrowicz withdrew imperceptibly from the strategy adopted in the 
�rst letter, in which the blade of arguments was the laughter from the crowd – 
which Schulz pointed out to him. Talking about his aunts, he wrote: “I apologize 
to you, Saint Bruno, for the thoughts of these women, incurably sceptical about 
their own nephews”67, and immediately a�erwards he added: “I would like to 
confront Goethe himself with his aunt, the calf – I would like to use the calf to 
destroy the writerly faces of you all!”68. In Gombrowicz’s second letter, there is 
no more mocking noise of the crowd and its merciless shouts. �e doctor’s wife 
from Wilcza created by Gombrowicz does not �aunt her malicious opinions 
anymore but is intended to bite Schulz at his calves – to knock him o� the ped-
estal, throw him o� the ivory tower and put him on the ground among ordinary 
people, that is, all the hobbledehoys. First, we are girls with calves, nephews in 
underpants that are too short, and only then are we writers and artists – 
Gombrowicz seemed to be saying to Schulz, and at the same time to all writers 

65 Ibidem, p. 215–216.
66 W. Gombrowicz, Łańcuch nietaktów, p. 275.
67 Idem, Do Brunona Schulza, “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki”, październik 1936, no. 7, p. 218.
68 There is a certain paradox in Gombrowicz’s intention. Under the very form of open letters of the 

two writers, there is a mask, a clear form of two great authors arguing with each other at the 
heights of the literary Parnassus (despite the seeming insigni�cance of calves and doctors’ wives). 
This was noticed, among others, by Jan Emil Skiwski, who was hostile to Gombrowicz and Schulz 
– see J. E. Skiwski, Łańcuch szczęścia, “Tygodnik Ilustrowany” 1936, no. 42, p. 794.
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of that time, hidden deep in their reliance on the image of themselves as “bards”. 
Relationships between body and spirit, throwing o� masks, enslavement to form, 
childishness – for Gombrowicz, the exchange of letters became another kind of 
practice for Ferdydurke, in which everything turns out to have a child 
within69.

October–December 1936: “Grumbling for the record” – the reaction of the 
press to the letters in “Studio”

�e letters of Gombrowicz and Schulz published in “Studio” were noticed by 
many critics and commentators of literary life70. On October 18, “Tygodnik 
Ilustrowany” published an article by Jan Emil Skiwski “Łańcuch szczęścia”, de-
voted to snobbery71, literary anaemia, self-love and the pretentiousness of the 
authors. In response, Schulz sent a letter to the editor of “Tygodnik”, Wacław 
Czarski, titled “Zamiast odpowiedzi”72 [Instead of an answer]. In it, he expressed 
his reluctance to debate such a primitively presented argument and criticism 
directed at him: “I do not think I am as naive and limited as Mr. Skiwski claims. 
I also do not suppose I am a snob, hungry for cheap and trivial successes, and 
I also believe that my literary activity to date does not justify such a presentation”73.

In November, Gombrowicz also spoke out and decided that he had to explain 
the meaning of the “experiment” he had provoked74, and at the same time enter 
a polemic with Skiwski. �e purpose of the open exchange of letters, accord-
ing to Gombrowicz, was to check whether his “friend” Bruno Schulz had the 
command of language in every respect, even in tactless situations, when life 
throws a person out of their most comfortable form. “I decided to have fun with 

69 Jerzy Jarzębski writes that in the �nal version of the novel we will �nd “sentences as if taken from 
open letters addressed to Bruno Schulz in ‘Studio’” – see J. Jarzębski, Gra w Gombrowicza, Warsza-
wa 1982, p. 215.

70 See A. Pleśniewicz, Spór o doktorową. Rozwichrzone problematy dyskusji literackiej, “Kurier Poran-
ny” 1936, no. 329; J. E. Skiwski, Łańcuch szczęścia, “Tygodnik Ilustrowany” 1936, no. 42; W. Pietrzak, 
Święte szukanie, “Studio” 1936, no. 9; W. Gombrowicz, Łańcuch nietaktów, “Studio” 1936, no. 8.

71 Critics associated with the national movement were obsessed with “literary snobbery”, which can 
be seen, for example, in the articles of Stanisław Piasecki, editor-in-chief of the weekly “Prosto 
z Mostu”. Gombrowicz knew that it was di�cult to escape from this form, which is why he often 
used snobbery: “It was some kind of mania for snobbery, or some game of snobbery […]. For, af-
ter all, we were all snobs, even though, to be honest, we were not. Oh, form!” – see W. Gombrow-
icz, Testament. Rozmowy z Dominique de Roux, Kraków 2012, p. 14–15.

72 The letter was published on November 1, 1936 on the last pages of “Tygodnik Ilustrowany” next 
to advertisements for a mild laxative, toothpaste and powder – see B. Schulz, Zamiast odpowiedzi, 
“Tygodnik Ilustrowany” 1936, no. 44, p. 848.

73 See B. Schulz, Księga listów, list do Wacława Czarskiego, no. I 58, p. 99–100.
74 W. Gombrowicz, Łańcuch nietaktów.
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Bruno – I wrote an open letter to him that was deliberately tactless”75. According 
to Gombrowicz, Schulz (“a noble, pure and impractical poet”) failed and, in fact, 
�ed in a cowardly manner from confrontation with the grey, ordinary life that 
had materialised in front of him in the form of the doctor’s wife from Wilcza. 
Running away, though, he set a trap for Gombrowicz, who indeed fell into it. 
“My answer, which was supposed to be light, humorous, and belittling, turned 
out to be heavy and insu�cient in the context of Schulz’s letter […]. Does this 
mean that Schulz and I are snobs?”76.

With this question, Gombrowicz referred to Skiwski’s text, and then step by 
step ridiculed the thesis of his article, such as the order to remain silent about 
himself, a ban on writing about his ordinary problems, on making public only the 
complete and perfect works carved in solitude, reserving certain topics exclusively 
for outstanding writers such as Gide and Mauriac. Gombrowicz did not shy away 
from malice: “It is not strange that such an opinion comes from the mouth of 
a man who does nothing else but – in short and necessarily super�cial articles – 
raises issues that, to put it in his terminology, he is not mature enough to handle, 
and he judges people who are way above him”. To the accusation of pretend-
ing to be someone he was not, Gombrowicz replied: “An element of a perfectly 
conscious mysti�cation is common to both of us, and is most clearly visible in 
Schulz’s works, and everything I have written so far has been a mysti�cation and 
parody only”77. Towards the end, Gombrowicz paraphrases Skiwski’s words by 
writing about the “error of our criticism” thats develops at someone else’s expense.

On November 26, 1936, in “Kurier Poranny”, Andrzej Pleśniewicz commented 
on the exchange of letters in “Studio”, �rmly siding with Schulz. Pleśniewicz drew 
attention to “the confusion of conceptual territories” in Gombrowicz’s reasoning 
regarding art and life. As a result, he considered it unjusti�ed to demand that 
a writer should be able to behave or express himself appropriately in every life 
situation. It is as if – Pleśniewicz compared – as if an excellent fencer was obliged 
to master the cudgel78.

�ree days a�er this publication in “Kurier Poranny”, in a letter dated 
November 29, 1936, Schulz thanked Pleśniewicz for his support in the con-
frontation with Gombrowicz, “for such a beautiful and profound defence”. He 
expressed surprise that his “party with Witold” was taken so seriously because he 
had previously considered it “trivial and playful”, and only a�er some time, in the 
course of subsequent discussions, it began to take on new meanings “illuminating 

75 Ibidem, p. 274.
76 Ibidem, p. 275.
77 Ibidem, p. 279.
78 A. Pleśniewicz, Rozwichrzone problematy dyskusji literackiej, p. 54–55.
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those epiphenomena that followed”79. �e same day, and in a similar tone, he 
wrote back to Romana Halpern, who had referred to the exchange of letters in 
“Studio”: “I did not write about the correspondence with Gombre, because in 
fact it was a trivial matter – it is not known why it was discussed so much”80. 
Two days later, on December 1, Schulz wrote to Pleśniewicz again, probably 
in response to his question about the article from “Kurier Poranny”81. Schulz 
admitted that his opinion about the provocation in “Studio” was similar – that 
“the real personal bene�t of mastering the phrase ‘it cannot be’ is a test of art-
istry” and “the groundlessness of the demand that a writer be what Gomber 
calls a ‘full writer’”82. He noted, however, that the opponent’s position was very 
strong, it was not easy to argue with him, and Gombrowicz could e�ectively at-
tack Pleśniewicz in this �eld.

In December of the same year, in the 9th issue of “Studio”, Włodzimierz 
Pietrzak, an acquaintance of Schulz and Gombrowicz, who o�en visited Zo�a 
Nałkowska’s apartment, also expressed his view. In his text, Pietrzak defended 
Schulz against the charge of insanity83, saying that a non-mimetic type of creativ-
ity (called “sacred seeking”) is necessary for the further development of culture. 
“It is worth putting the name of such madness as a laurel on a burnt forehead”84. 
Pietrzak pointed out that the case of the doctor’s wife from Wilcza is a symbol of 
the cultural situation at the time. All art and critical ways of thinking have be-
come, in his opinion, incomprehensible to society, and intellectual achievements 
are no longer useful to the crowd – that is why the crowd calls them anomalies. 
�e author of the text therefore asked what we could do to reverse this situation: 
“How to educate society so that searching and discovering are not synonymous 
with madness?”85.

January–October 1937: The manuscript of Ferdydurke – “I don’t think it 
needs to be published”

Gombrowicz and Schulz continued the dialogue on form outside the pages of
“Studio” – uno�cially and on a “con�dential basis”86. �ey must have 

79 See B. Schulz, Księga listów, list do Andrzeja Pleśniewicza, no. I 69, p. 121–122.
80 See ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 83, p. 143.
81 The letter in which Pleśniewicz asks Schulz about his article has not survived.
82 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Andrzej Pleśniewicz, no. I 70, p. 123.
83 A year and a half later, though, Pietrzak would criticize Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass

for preferring sick solitude over such values as �ght and honour, see Bluszcz na ruinach, “Prosto 
z Mostu” 1938, no. 27, p. 7.

84 W. Pietrzak, Święte szukanie, “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki” 1936, no. 9, p. 315.
85 Ibidem.
86 Schulz would later describe their relationship with this word, see B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to 

Romana Halpern, no. I 93, p. 158.
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corresponded for some time and soon met in person. In January 1937, 
Gombrowicz visited Schulz, who was su�ering from in�uenza in Warsaw87and 
had not le� his bed for ten days88. During the visit, Gombrowicz showed him 
the un�nished manuscript of Ferdydurke. Schulz was the �rst person to read the 
novel in this form89. In a letter to Tadeusz Breza, Schulz described this version 
as “wonderful”90, but it was by no means an honest statement. Schulz did not 
really like the �rst fragments of the novel91. In May 1936, he wrote to Tadeusz 
Breza: “Gombre’s fragment did not seem vivid enough to me”92. But Schulz did 
not mean the fragment printed in “Tygodnik Ilustrowany”, contrary to what we 
could read in the footnotes to this letter93. On July 14, 1935, in the 28th issue of 
“Tygodnik Ilustrowany”, Gombrowicz’s short story that would become part of 
the already-announced novel was published with the title “Tośka. Fragmenty”94. 
Why would Tadeusz Breza write to Schulz about this old publication almost 
a year later, and where would Schulz get an old issue of “Tygodnik Ilustrowany”? 
Breza was certainly referring to the second issue of “Studio” published in May 
193695, whose editor was their friend Bogusław Kuczyński, secretary and partner 
of Zo�a Nałkowska96. In this issue, Breza found a story by Schulz titled “O sobie” 
[About Myself]97 and Gombrowicz’s short story "Skazić urok nowoczesnej pen-
sjonarki! (Z powieści Ferdydurke)" [Contaminate the Charm of a Modern 
Schoolgirl! (From the novel Ferdydurke)] – about which he wrote in a letter that 

87 Schulz may not have had the �u, but he had a hard time coping with the suicide attempt of Józe-
�na Szelińska of the second half of January 1937.

88 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 20.
89 “Bruno was �rst. I had con�dence in him” – see W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 92.
90 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 20, p. 59.
91 These were texts that Gombrowicz delivered to Schulz personally in draft form, or fragments of 

Ferdydurke printed in literary magazines. There were as many as ten publications preceding the 
book edition of the novel in nine di�erent magazines, including “Skamander”, “Wiadomości Lit-
erackie” and “Tygodnik Ilustrowany” – see “Jak powstawała Ferdydurke, in: W. Gombrowicz, Ferdy-
durke, oprac. W. Bolecki, Kraków 2007, p. 261.

92 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 17, p. 57.
93 See ibidem, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 17, footnote no. 26, p. 347.
94 See W. Gombrowicz, Tośka. (Fragmenty), p. 556–557.
95 “Studio. Miesięcznik literacki”, maj 1936, no. 2. On May 10, 1936, Zo�a Nałkowska wrote: “The 

second issue of ‘Studio’ is more beautiful, it is thicker, it has a cover, it has my article, and Schulz, 
Gombrowicz, Choromański, as well as my reviews of books and theatres” – see Z. Nałkowska, 
Dzienniki IV. Część 2, p. 109–110.

96 Breza probably announced to Schulz that the next issue of “Studio” would contain an excerpt 
from his novel Adam Grywałd, to which Schulz replied: “I am looking forward to the excerpt” – see 
B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 17, p. 57.

97 The story would later be reprinted in Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass with the title 
“Samotność” [published in English translations as “Solitude” and “Loneliness”]. Breza praised this 
and probably other works, and Schulz replied: “The fragments of mine that you read – they were 
written by hand – once, I found them now as ‘paralipomena’. Your praise is not justi�ed” – 
B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 17, p. 57.
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it was more vivid than “Dziewictwo” [Virginity] from Pamiętnik z okresu dojrze-
wania. Schulz admitted that Breza was right but noted that it was probably only 
“the e�ect of [his] greater courage and awareness of [his] own intentions”98. 
Schulz was not particularly impressed by the un�nished Ferdydurke, which he 
o�en admitted in conversations with Gombrowicz. Perhaps he did not want to 
criticize his friend’s book, which is why, in his letter of February 2, 1937 to 
Tadeusz Breza – who was an ardent enthusiast of Gombrowicz’s work99 – he 
only wrote brie�y: “It’s almost ready and wonderful”100, without going into po-
lemical debates or details.

Gombrowicz quoted Schulz’s true opinion about the manuscript years later: 
“You should rather go back to your fantasy from Pamiętnik, that genre suits you 
better”101, and also: “I don’t think this needs to be published”102.

Schulz’s cold reaction gave Gombrowicz food for thought: “I felt a wave of 
cold. No one else read this piece that I put so much work into. Bruno was �rst. 
I had con�dence in him”103. He devoted the following months to revising the 
novel, which was published in its entirety at the end of October 1937, together 
with Schulz’s illustrations. Almost nothing is known about the circumstances in 
which the three drawings accompanying Gombrowicz’s novel were created. Two 
of them were placed towards the end of the chapter “Parobek, czyli nowe przy-
chwycenie” [�e Farmhand, or a New Adoption]. �e third drawing, depicting 
“a twisted, rheumatized oak tree with boughs and branches growing in the form 
of human heads, gesticulating hands and arms and bucking legs”104, was featured 
on the dust jacket designed by Schulz. Gombrowicz referred to this drawing in 
the dedication written on October 20 in a copy of Ferdydurke, which he was to 
send to Schulz: “Dear Bruno, I am planting a seed for the growth of these frail 
body parts in the fertile and wonderful soil of yours. 20.10.1937 W.G.”105.

November 1937: “When he’d read Ferdydurke, he burst into �ames”

Schulz picked up a copy of Ferdydurke in the �rst half of November – and only 
this version made him truly delighted106. �e novel made a “thrilling” and 

98 Ibidem.
99 See W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 79.

100 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Tadeusz Breza, no. I 20, p. 59.
101 Quoted after: W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 656.
102 Idem, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 92.
103 Ibidem.
104 J. Ficowski, Komentarze i glosy, in: B. Schulz, Księga obrazów, zebrał, oprac., komentarzami opatrzył 

J. Ficowski, p. 519.
105 Quoted after: J. Ficowski, Komentarze i glosy, p. 519; Józe�na Szelińska found a copy of Ferdydurke

with a dedication by Gombrowicz in 1967.
106 See B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 9.
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“stunning” impression on him107. “When he read Ferdydurke in the book form, 
he burst into �ames that almost burned me, somebody who was rather cold”108 – 
Gombrowicz recollected. Schulz even telegraphed him several times in one day 
to express his growing admiration109. According to Schulz, it was an innovative 
and revelatory novel, defying any literary classi�cation. He compared the author’s 
spiritual endeavour to the achievements of Sigmund Freud and Marcel Proust, 
and called Gombrowicz a genius110. Schulz confessed in one of his letters that 
he was in a sense “charged” by Gombrowicz’s novel, which gave him no peace111. 
At the same time, he admitted that he had not expected Gombrowicz to write 
such a masterpiece: “It is a strange feeling when you interact with someone on 
such a familiar basis, and suddenly a genius bursts out of them. Gombrowicz is 
just brilliant”112. To give an outlet to his emotions, he decided to write a text 
about Ferdydurke, which he did over the next few weeks.

1936–1938: Ferdydurke and Romana Halpern

In the context of Schulz’s text about Ferdydurke, the �gure of Romana Halpern 
is important. At the end of November 1936, Schulz recommended her to read 
Pamiętnik z okresu dojrzewania, which he considered a “sensational book”113. 
A few months later, Romana Halpern asked Schulz to arrange a meeting with 
the author of Pamiętnik. Schulz promised to write to him about this matter: “As 
for Gombrowicz, I will try to initiate the acquaintance between you, because 
it is worth getting to know him. Can I just write to him that you would like to 
meet?”114. However, he started writing the letter only a month later, on September 
29, 1937. �at day he informed Romana Halpern: “At the same time, I am writing 
to Gombrowicz about you. I hope that I will be able to arrange some rapproche-
ment between you. But he is unhealthy and not in the best shape now”115. Schulz’s 
fears were con�rmed, as he informed his friend: “I am unlucky with Gombrowicz. 
He is going through some depression now and is avoiding people. He promised 
me that when he feels better, he will call you”116.

107 Ibidem, no. I 93, p. 158.
108 W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 656.
109 Idem, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 127; idem, Kronos, Kraków 2013, p. 37 and 43.
110 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 93, s. 158.
111 Ibidem.
112 Ibidem.
113 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 83, p. 143.
114 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 90, p. 153–154.
115 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 91, p. 156.
116 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 92, p. 157.
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Gombrowicz’s bad mood was related to the upcoming publication of 
Ferdydurke, but it did not go away with it: “Broken, sad, exhausted, I spent a few 
months in the Tatra Mountains, then I le� for Rome. Giving birth to a book is 
never pleasant, but this birth was the worst of all my births”117. Gombrowicz also 
recalls that he was simply afraid of attacks by the nationalist press, which could 
result in him being beaten by some “fascist gang”118. In the next letter, dated 
November 16, 1937, Schulz informed Romana Halpern about the “electrifying” 
impression that reading Ferdydurke made on him. Despite Schulz’s praise, the 
author of the novel remained “depressed and concerned about the fate of his 
book”119, he also promised to send Halpern a copy of it – which means that he 
was in constant contact with Schulz through correspondence. In the same let-
ter, Schulz con�ded that he wanted to write a text about Ferdydurke. Romana 
Halpern, also delighted with Gombrowicz’s novel, suggested to Schulz that he 
should publicly present his newly written article – and o�ered to help. She was 
a member of artistic and literary circles and was sometimes involved in readings 
and cultural events. Gombrowicz, who had read the text of the speech prepared 
by Schulz120, enthusiastically responded to this initiative. He was grateful to 
Schulz and Romana Halpern for their engagement. Two days before the planned 
lecture, he wrote a card from Zakopane to Bruno Schulz: “I am touched by your 
activity and grateful to Mrs. Halpern for this idea”121.

January 1938: A reading that “infuriated all the mandarins of the time”

On January 11, 1938, Schulz read his article during a discussion evening at the 
Polish Literary Trade Union in Warsaw at ul. Pierackiego 16122. Schulz’s paper 
provoked a heated discussion, with Wanda Kragen, Maria Kuncewiczowa, Stefan 
Napierski and Rafał Blüth expressing their opinions. Schulz himself was not 
satis�ed with his speech: “I le� that evening a bit depressed by the excellent 

117 W. Gombrowicz, Testament, p. 43.
118 Ibidem.
119 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 93, s. 158.
120 We know this from Gombrowicz’s letter to Schulz of July 19, 1938, in which Gombrowicz men-

tioned that he had read Schulz’s article right after the publication of Ferdydurke – see B. Schulz, 
Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 13, p. 281.

121 Ibidem, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 9, p. 278.
122 Press reports regarding Schulz’s lecture only mention the ZZLP premises. Anyway, it is known 

that since 1936 the Association’s premises were located at ul. Pierackiego 16a – see “Studio”, 
grudzień 1936, no. 9, p. 350. For several years, Tuesday literary readings were regularly organized 
there: “For several years now, the Warsaw branch of the Polish Literary Trade Union organises at 
ul. Pierackiego 16a apartment 8 regular Tuesday discussions with eminent local and visiting 
speakers” – see Odczyty w Związku Literatów, “Wiadomości Literackie”, 19 marca 1939, no. 12 
(804), p. 8.
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speeches of other people and with disgust at my own reading”123. He had le� 
the premises before the discussion ended because he felt overwhelmed by the 
number of people who wanted to talk to him and o�er contrary views124. �e 
discussion that started with the reading about Ferdydurke moved to the pages of 
magazines, where numerous reports and extreme comments appeared. 
Gombrowicz was grateful to Schulz, who not only gave his novel the highest 
praise, but also provoked another wave of discussions about Ferdydurke – regard-
less of the fact that he exposed himself to numerous attacks from critics, and the 
reading enraged “”all the mandarins of the time”125. And not only during the 
discussion that took place at the o�ce of the trade union. A statement of Stanisław 
Piasecki is a case in point: at the end of January, he called Schulz’s enthusiasm 
towards Ferdydurke a symptom of psychosis126. On January 18, Schulz informed 
Romana Halpern: “Gombrowicz writes to me that we did him a huge favour, that 
the e�ect was perfect, as he is informed from everywhere, and he says he is 
obliged to us”. “One way or another, it is of great importance for the book, it 
stimulates, creates a sensation, emboldens those who are of a similar opinion 
and creates a movement”” – these are Gombrowicz’s words127. �e sensation 
and movement that Gombrowicz wrote about were also manifested in announce-
ments, comments and reports from Schulz’s speech, which appeared in the press 
on those days128.

Even years later, Gombrowicz will write about Schulz’s paper on Ferdydurke
as an almost heroic act; he expressed such a view in private letters129, in Dziennik
and in Wspomnienia polskie: “Who was the �rst to dare to throw all his enthusi-
asm into the scale of the growing discussion about Ferdydurke, if not my grand 
late friend, Bruno Schulz?”130. �e same thought comes back every now and then: 
Schulz was the �rst person to understand and support him, regardless of the costs.

Schulz continued the discussion about Gombrowicz and his work in his 
private correspondence. Among Schulz’s preserved letters, we �nd only two 

123 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 94.
124 “I am not immune to people who impose themselves on me, and a lot of people attacked me” – 

ibidem, letter no. I 95, p. 160. See also: W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik…, p. 656.
125 Ibidem.
126 S. Piasecki, Czarowanie gałązką w zębach, „Prosto z Mostu”, 30 stycznia 1938, no. 7 (173). Schulz’s 

name does not appear in the article, but the context (a lecture at a discussion meeting) is almost 
entirely clear.

127 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 95, s. 160.
128 See Odczyt o Gombrowiczu, „Apel” 1938, no. 17, dodatek artystyczno-literacki „Kuriera Porannego”, 

no. 16, p. 1; Odczyt o nowej powieści Gombrowicza, „Czas” 1938, no. 8, p. 10; Schulz o Gombrowiczu, 
„Nowy Dziennik”, 15 stycznia 1938, no. 15, p. 10; To nie była dyskusja lecz demonstracja, „Czas”, 19 styc-
znia 1938, no. 18, p. 6; Tydzień kulturalny. W kraju, „Tygodnik ilustrowany”, 23 stycznia 1938, no. 4, p. 81.

129 See letter to Józef Wittlin from April 1961 (Walka o sławę, cz. 1), to Artur Sandauer of June 19, 1961 
(Walka o sławę, cz. 1), to Jerzy Gombrowicz of July 3, 1961 (Listy do rodziny).

130 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 91.
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addressees to whom he wrote about Ferdydurke: Zenon Waśniewski (“Make sure 
to read Ferdydurke – a brilliant work!”131) and Romana Halpern (“revealing and 
sensational”132). However, we can �nd traces of many similar conversations in let-
ters from Wanda Kragen, Maria Flukowska, Artur Sandauer, Witkacy and Izydor 
Berman. �ese people were most likely to respond to mentions of Gombrowicz’s 
work, which were formulated by Schulz in the lost letters.

We only have a small part of his correspondence, but based on it we can as-
sume that he informed many, if not all, of his correspondents about Ferdydurke.

January–February 1938: Gombrowicz’s pessimism

Despite Schulz’s e�orts, Gombrowicz was still pessimistic about the future of his 
novel. “You are too optimistic about the situation of Ferdydurke and myself ”133

– he shrugged o� his friend’s enthusiasm. He was also concerned about the rejec-
tion of Schulz’s text by “Wiadomości Literackie”: “Contrary to what you write, 
I consider it a serious blow to Ferdydurke”134. Gombrowicz, just like a�er his 
debut, noticed malicious criticism everywhere. He claimed that he was then the 
greatest enemy of Stanisław Piasecki from the “Prosto z Mostu” magazine, who, 
a�er reading fragments of his novel, “felt stunned, spat and, instead of printing 
it, declared war on me”135. Schulz himself did not share Gombrowicz’s concerns 
and discredited the attacks against him. About Piasecki’s text136, which expressed 
sharp criticism of the author of Ferdydurke, he wrote the following: “He is vulgar 
and stupid”137.

January–February 1938: Stanisław Brochwicz – Gombrowicz’s ac-
quaintance

Shortly a�er the lecture, Schulz made contact with one of Gombrowicz’s friends, 
Stanisław Brochwicz, who o�ered him help regarding the translation of �e Street 
of Crocodiles into German138. Perhaps it was not an empty promise, because as 
a Nazi agent he certainly had great opportunities. He gave Schulz the contact 
details of a woman translator from Vienna, whom Schulz, in fact, had known 
long before. However, Romana Halpern warned Schulz against collaborating 

131 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Zenon Waśniewski, no. I 48, p. 92.
132 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 93, p. 158.
133 Ibidem, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 10, p. 279.
134 Ibidem.
135 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 98.
136 S. Piasecki, Czarowanie gałązką w zębach.
137 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 99, p. 166.
138 Schulz writes about this in a letter to Romana Halpern – see ibidem, letter no. I 94, p. 159.
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with a man who did not hide his fascist and anti-Semitic views: “�ank you for 
your warning about Brochwicz. I am not writing to him. I am waiting for him 
to write something”139. Gombrowicz’s circle believed that Brochwicz only pre-
tends to be an agent (“Poor Brochwicz pretends to be a spy, but he won’t fool 
us”140). Gombrowicz himself later explained that he only realized this during 
their joint trip to Rome in March 1938141, a�er a series of strange events involv-
ing Brochwicz (“I suddenly understood. It was in the Vatican, when I was walking 
through the halls – yes, he must have been a Nazi agent!”142). Earlier, Brochwicz 
asked Schulz to write a review of his book Matki czuwają [Mothers Are Watching]. 
As you can see, anti-Semitism did not prevent him from courting the renowned 
Jewish writer. Schulz replied that he had given up writing reviews, but he liked 
the book – because he did not want to alienate Brochwicz. However, he did not 
have the best opinion about the collection itself: “I have the impression that it is 
a graphomaniac book, though apparently Gombrowicz was delighted with it 
(I don’t know if he is being sincere)”143. Indeed, Gombrowicz positively assessed 
Brochwicz’s book, as evidenced by his review, which appeared on February 26, 
1938 in “Kurier Poranny”144. Gombrowicz must have shown it to Schulz earlier, 
because he informed Romana Halpern already in mid-February: “I am very 
surprised that Gombrowicz wrote such a good review of Brochwicz. I couldn’t 
read this book, but please don’t tell anyone, because I naturally told him that 
I liked it”145. Probably a�er Gombrowicz returned from Italy, contact with 
Brochwicz ceased. In 1941, Brochwicz was sentenced to death by the under-
ground court for collaboration and consequently stabbed to death.

During this time, Schulz and Gombrowicz exchanged letters regularly. In 
February 1938, Schulz wrote: “I am constantly in contact with Gombrowicz”146. 
�ey probably talked about Gombrowicz’s departure to Italy, the future of 
Ferdydurke and Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass, and about chances 
for these books in the literary contest organised by “”Wiadomości Literackie”. At 
that time, the issue of the award for the best book published in 1937 was being 
decided. Schulz expected that Gombrowicz would receive the award – though 
he was hoping to get it himself, too147. “I would love to take this award mainly 

139 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 95, p. 161.
140 J. Siedlecka, Jaśnie Panicz, p. 227.
141 In Wspomnienia polskie, Gombrowicz incorrectly states that he made this trip in April or May. 

March is indicated by the entries in Kronos and Schulz’s letter to Romana Halpern of March 31, 
1938, which mentions Gombrowicz’s return to Warsaw.

142 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 136.
143 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 97, p. 164.
144 See W. Gombrowicz, Książki. Matki i mężczyźni, “Kurier Poranny”, 26 lutego 1938, no. 57, p. 3.
145 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 98, p. 165.
146 See ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 99, p. 166.
147 See ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 98, p. 164–165.
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because it is a bridge to go beyond the Polish language. And money means 
something too!”148 – he wrote to Romana Halpern. Ultimately, none of them 
received the award, which was given to Jeremi Wasiutyński for his monograph 
Kopernik. Twórca nowego nieba.

March–April 1938: Schulz returns to Ferdydurke

At the beginning of March 1938, Gombrowicz went to Italy with Stanisław 
Brochwicz. At that time, Schulz received no news from him. “Gombrowicz is not 
in Warsaw. He doesn’t send me anything149 – he reported in a letter from March 
20, 1938. Gombrowicz contacted his friend at the end of the month, when he 
returned to Poland. On March 31, Schulz noted: “Gombrowicz’s recently come 
to Warsaw and written to me a�er a long break””150. He might have described 
to Schulz his thoughts on being an artist, perhaps he reported disturbing political 
events he experienced while staying in Austria (the invasion by the German 
Reich), or shared his observations about Brochwicz. Schulz decided to return to 
the topic of Ferdydurke, came to Warsaw and had a “rather fundamental conver-
sation” with Gombrowicz. Schulz could not understand this apathy of the friend 
he considered a genius. “He bitterly reproached me for not being personally up 
to par with what I was writing. I was sitting in a chair, mumbling something 
stupid, and inwardly I agreed with him that he was right. I wasn’t up to par. Me, 
a specialist at inferiority, I was also below my own work, me, a private person, 
some rural-urban Gombrowicz… Why couldn’t I celebrate victory?”151.

April 1938: Gombrowicz and Witkiewicz read Sanatorium Under the Sign 
of the Hourglass

At that time, Gombrowicz was reading Sanatory Under the Sign of the Hourglass, 
which he rated very highly, and he praised Schulz on an ongoing basis. 
“Gombrowicz writes me many compliments about my book”, the latter report-
ed152. Impressed by the book, Gombrowicz wrote a critical sketch devoted to it.

“Gombrowicz wrote an article about me, which he sent to ‘Kurier Po-
ranny’”153 – noted Schulz on April 17, 1938 in a letter to Romana Halpern. 
�e �nished text was published on April 24, 1938 in a supplement to “Kurier 

148 ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 99, p. 166.
149 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 102, p. 171.
150 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 103, p. 172.
151 W. Gombrowicz, Testament, p. 49.
152 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 104, p. 173.
153 Ibidem.
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Poranny” under the title Twórczość Brunona Schulza154. Romana Halpern wrote 
to Schulz on May 15 that it was an “excellent article”155 about his work. In this 
text, Gombrowicz tried to explain Schulz’s style and philosophy. In his opin-
ion, Schulz wanted to reach the truth by presenting various masks of reality, 
combining various forms which existence takes on – in order to separate what 
is �eeting and transitory (form) from what is permanent and unchanging. He 
emphasized Schulz’s stylistic skill, but wondered to what extent the modern 
writer was enslaved by his style. At the same time, Gombrowicz defended non-
veristic literature, which, in his view, was the only honest literary form: “the 
very act of describing imaginary events as if they really happened, giving them 
the appearance of real life when everyone knows that they were born in our 
heads, is a regrettable �ction and mysti�cation”156. Years later, Gombrowicz 
will remember this review and describe the background of its creation: “I once 
wrote an article about it for ‘Kurier Poranny’ and then I remembered that I was 
very afraid that they would say that I was praising him because he praises me… 
out of this fear, an article was born, not directly about Schulz, but about how 
his work should be read”157.

At the same time, Sanatory Under the Sign of the Hourglass was also read by 
Stanisław Ignacy Witkiewicz (“some of the pages are wonderful!”), who on April 
23, 1938 wrote a letter to Schulz in which he informed him about his separation 
from Czesława Oknińska-Korzeniowska and his poor mental condition158 He 
explained why he had not been in touch for some time, and perhaps realized 
that Schulz had become closer to Gombrowicz. �at is why he asked Schulz: 
“Write right away and comfort me, not taking into account that I have not writ-
ten to you for so long”” – and at the same time expressing hope: “I don’t think 
Gombrowicz will separate us”159. In this case, Gombrowicz did not separate 
them; Schulz ful�lled his friend’s request and wrote a “wonderful letter”. �is fact 
a�er is con�rmed by Witkacy’s reactions, expressed in two letters to his wife (of 
April 29: “I had a wonderful letter from Schulz”, and April 31: “I got a wonderful 
letter from Bruno Schulz”160).

154 W. Gombrowicz, Twórczość Brunona Schulza, „Apel”, 24 kwietnia 1938, no. 31, a special literary 
supplement to “Kurier Poranny”, no. 112, p. 1.

155 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Romana Halpern, no. III 7, p. 275.
156 W. Gombrowicz, “Twórczość Brunona Schulza”, in: idem, Varia 1, p. 300.
157 Idem, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 657.
158 S. I. Witkiewicz, Listy II (vol. 2, part 2), oprac. i przypisami opatrzyli J. Degler, S. Okołowicz, T. Paw-

lak, Warszawa 2017, letter to Bruno Schulz of April 23, 1938, p. 274.
159 Ibidem, letter to Bruno Schulz of April 23, 1938, p. 275.
160 Idem, Listy do żony…, letters no. 1211 and 1212, p. 230–231.
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May–June 1938: Trip to Paris and temptation by Christianity

In May 1938, Gombrowicz helped Schulz organize a trip to Paris. �e trip was 
to be made easier because Schulz was going to sign up to the PEN Club and 
obtain a journalist’s ID. Regarding membership in the PEN Club, Gombrowicz 
contacted Stella Olgierd (Polish Literary Club, ul. Pierackiego 16) by phone, who 
was then to send Schulz the necessary forms for candidates. In the matter of 
journalistic credentials, Gombrowicz advised Schulz to write to the editor 
Wojciech Natanson from “Czas” (ul. Szpitalna 12) “with a proposal to place travel 
correspondence there”161. Moreover, Gombrowicz wrote to Schulz about moving 
to Warsaw. He also advised him to get closer to Catholicism, which, in his opin-
ion, corresponded to the properties and needs of Schulz’s nature: “Your gentle-
ness, mysticism, sublimation, weakness in life, contemplative tendencies (to limit 
yourself to the most simple things), all these predispose you to this spiritual 
direction, to Christianity – and I am almost sure that, despite any intellectual (or 
other) resistance, your nature will accept the atmosphere itself ”162. According 
to Jerzy Ficowski, Gombrowicz’s persuasions were an “experiment” and “an at-
tempt at a psychological procedure”163. However, Gombrowicz’s preserved letters 
show that in his private correspondence with Schulz, he was not a calculating 
experimenter. He tried to address his friend’s questions and problems in a factual 
manner or talked freely about Sandauer’s vices – these were not Gombrowicz’s 
tricks known from the letters published in “Studio”. But still, in Gombrowicz’s 
view, approaching Christianity was supposed to be more spiritual than dogmatic. 
�e context of the opening sentences of the letter shows that this proposal seemed 
to be a practical solution to Schulz164. Gombrowicz’s was not the �rst attempt 
to connect Schulz with Catholic ideology (not necessarily faith). A few months 
earlier, Maria Flukowska wrote to him: “I believe most deeply that you will ‘end 
up’ in Catholicism. I have been convinced of this for a long time. Certain reviews 
indicate that your attitude and intellectual dispositions are Catholic (these in-
clude, in some parts, the second review about Kuncewiczowa, much truer than 
the �rst one)”165. In this context, which Jerzy Ficowski did not know, one should 
look di�erently at Gombrowicz’s demands for Schulz to establish closer relations 
with Christian thought and ideas.

161 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 11, p. 280.
162 Ibidem, p. 279–280.
163 J. Ficowski, Listy do Brunona Schulza, in: B. Schulz, Księga listów, note no. 9, p. 416.
164 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 11, p. 279.
165 Ibidem, letter from Maria Flukowska, no. III 41, p. 320.
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At the same time, in May 1938, Schulz was deprived of access to the Warsaw 
press, and therefore feeling the critical literary void growing around his work, 
he asked a friend to send him his review of Sanatorium Under the Sign of 
the Hourglass, which was published in “Apel””166, a supplement to “Kurier 
Poranny”167. Gombrowicz replied (in a letter sent between May 19 and 28) that 
he would do so as soon as he visited the editorial o�ce of “Kurier” but was 
also surprised that Schulz did not have adequate access to the press: “I don’t 
understand why you don’t have a subscription. I rarely read literary and other 
magazines, but in reviews about me there are o�en mentions of you, proving 
that your situation is much better than mine”168.

In the next preserved letter, from June 1938, Gombrowicz con�rmed that 
the matter of journalistic accreditation had already been resolved, and he him-
self had telephoned editor Natanson about it. He also returned to the matter of 
PEN Club membership169 and informed Schulz that he had no contacts at the 
Foreign Currency Exchange Headquarters that issued foreign means of pay-
ment170. He also reminded Schulz about his proposal to become spiritually closer 
to Catholicism, which his corresponded could achieved by going to Laski171: 
“Wouldn’t it be good if you went to Laski before leaving for Paris?”172.

July 1938: Article about Ferdydurke in “Skamander”

In July 1938, Schulz’s article about Ferdydurke was published in “Skamander”173. 
It is a very erudite and well-thought-out text, and at the same time a piece of 
�ction itself, almost a full story �lled with extraordinary metaphors and brilliant 
comparisons. It is Ferdydurke read in Schulz’s style: “Wherever we plunge our 
hand into the �esh of the work, we feel the powerful muscles of thought, the 
biceps and bones of athletic anatomy, not made up with cotton wool and tow. 

166 See ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 105, p. 175.
167 “Besides, I don’t know about any reviews because I haven’t subscribed to the press” – see ibidem, 

letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 97, p. 164.
168 Ibidem, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 11, p. 280.
169 On June 7, 1938, Schulz was already on the PEN Club’s mailing list, so Gombrowicz’s letter to 

Schulz was probably sent at the beginning of June – see B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from the 
Polish branch of the Pen Club, no. III 48, p. 437.

170 Due to the bad economic situation, restrictive foreign currency measures were in force in Poland 
from 1936, see Z. Landau, Polityka walutowa rządu polskiego w latach 1936–1939, “Przegląd Histo-
ryczny” 1986, z. 2. Schulz had to ask Władysław Zawistowsk, the head of the Minister’s Art Depart-
ment of Religious Denominations and Public Enlightenment, for support. See B. Schulz, Księga 
listów, letter to Władysław Zawistowski, no. I 61, p. 102–103.

171 In Laski, there was a Center for the Care of the Blind, run in the Christian spirit by nuns from the 
Congregation of the Franciscan Sisters Servants of the Cross.

172 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 12, p. 281.
173 Idem, Ferdydurke, “Skamander”, July–September 1938, vol. 12, issue XCVI–XCVIII.
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�is book is bursting with an excess of ideas, over�owing with creative and 
destructive energy”174 – in other words, it reminded one of Schulz’s Book. In his 
article, Schulz rather vividly described the complicated nature of Ferdydurke and 
the discovery made by Gombrowicz. �is discovery was of the duality of human 
forms, which are divided into o�cial ones, representing only a part of human 
existence, and those rejected, located behind the scenes, in the “annex of our 
self ”175. Gombrowicz, according to Schulz, signi�cantly exceeded the achieve-
ments of Freud in this dimension thanks to the fact that he used “convulsions of 
laughter” instead of seriousness. Freud considered these subconscious contents 
of our existence as a kind of pathology, while Gombrowicz, looking through the 
“lens of the grotesque”176, thought they were the essence of man177.

Schulz drew attention to Gombrowicz’s discovery already during their ex-
change of letters in “Studio” (“I consider it a great merit that you, for the �rst 
time, guided our thoughts and feelings to these matters”), but it was only a�er 
reading Ferdydurke that he understood Gombrowicz’s “conspiracies with the 
dragon” and the role of “pranking the crowd”178 – which had previously caused 
him anxiety. All these conclusions about Gombrowicz’s novel, Schulz referred to 
the entire culture, which consists of a thin o�cial layer and the entire abyss, which 
is a littered cultural rubble: “It is a cesspool of immaturity, a realm of disgrace and 
shame, mismatches and shortcomings, a pathetic garbage dump of culture”179.

Schulz’s allegations against Ferdydurke

Interestingly, contrary to popular belief, Schulz’s review is not a one-sided apo-
theosis of Gombrowicz’s novel. Schulz noticed some theoretical imperfections 
in Przedmowa do Filidora dzieckiem podszytego. �e chapter outlines the program 
of the change to which artists and writers are to be subjected, but only the second-
rate ones – and this reservation worried Schulz. Gombrowicz wrote: “Believe 
me: there is a great di�erence between an artist who has already come true and 
a bunch of half-artists and quarter-artists who just want to come true. And what 
be�ts an artist who is already �nished in his entire pro�le has a di�erent meaning 
in yourself […] Believe me, it is high time to develop and establish the attitude 
of a second-rate writer, otherwise all people will feel sick”180. Schulz noted that 
creating exceptions in this way is harmful to the whole concept. In his opinion, 

174 Idem, Ferdydurke, in: idem, Szkice krytyczne, p. 147–148.
175 Ibidem, p. 144.
176 Ibid p. 142–144.
177 Experiments with form were therefore a path for Gombrowicz to achieve full humanity.
178 B. Schulz, Do Witolda Gombrowicza, p. 213 and 216.
179 Idem, “Ferdydurke”, in: idem, Szkice krytyczne, p. 145.
180 W. Gombrowicz, Ferdydurke, p. 69 and 71.
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Gombrowicz was afraid of the one-sidedness of his own theory, which is an 
inherent feature of every great system of thought. Moreover, he was very con-
cerned about the problematic distinction between �rst-rate and second-rate 
writers. �e inaccuracy of this division seemed to Schulz unworthy of the “master 
of relativism and believer in concreteness”, that is, of the author of Ferdydurke. 
As a consequence, Schulz demonstrated the “imbalance” of Gombrowicz’s ideol-
ogy, which the creator himself had “betrayed” because he limited it with excep-
tions. “�e exceptions that Gombrowicz makes weaken the credit of his 
theory”181.

Schulz also pointed to the predecessor of Ferdydurke, which was, in his opin-
ion, “premature and therefore ine�ective”182 – that is, Karol Irzykowski’s Pałuba. 
A similar conclusion was also presented by Artur Sandauer in a letter to Schulz 
of July 11, 1938: “I have recently read Pałuba; an excellent book. �e theme is 
almost identical to the one I came up with in Ferdydurke; but maybe a little shal-
lower, because is strictly intellectual”183.

It is worth noting that today we do not know the exact content of the reading 
that took place on January 11, 1938 (this is a common error in many studies)184, 
but only its magazine version (with which Schulz was dissatis�ed), a�er un-
identi�ed editorial corrections and perhaps also abbreviations. Schulz’s article 
was previously rejected by “Wiadomości Literackie” due to its excessive length.

Concerned, Gombrowicz wrote to Schulz on this matter: “I’m afraid that 
‘Tygodnik’ won’t publish it either – it would take up three pages! �ere are still 
‘Sygnały’, but ‘Skamander’, even its April issue, would certainly be better”185. 
On January 23, Schulz informed Romana Halpern that Mieczysław Grydzewski 
had already accepted the text of the speech for publication186 (“Grydzewski has 
already accepted it for Skamander, I just have to send it to him”187). However, 
the text was not included in the next issue, published in April–June, and had to 
wait for publication until July.

181 B. Schulz, “Ferdydurke”, in: idem, Szkice krytyczne, p. 148.
182 Ibidem, p. 149.
183 Idem, Księga listów, letter from Artur Sandauer, no. III 33, p. 310.
184 For example: K. Suchanow, Gombrowicz, vol. 1, p. 327–328.
185 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 10, p. 279.
186 Together with the article about Ferdydurke, Schulz sent Artur Sandauer’s text about Sanatorium 

Under the Sign of the Hourglass to “Skamander”, but it was not published. Sandauer notes with 
regret: “The new ‘Skamander’ has already been published. Your article about Gombrowicz is 
there, but mine about you is not” – see. B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 99, 
p. 166; and a letter from Artur Sandauer, no. III 34, p. 311.

187 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 96, p. 162.
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July 1938: “One of the most profound analyses of Ferdydurke”

Shortly a�er the publication in “Skamander”, on July 19, 1938, Gombrowicz wrote 
to Schulz that he had read his review again and still considered it “the best article 
ever written about the book, comprehensive in its most important points”188. 
He also sent Schulz his comments to the text, which, in his opinion, lacked em-
phasis on the problem of the relationship between human personality and form – 
though Schulz raises this problem many times: “So far, man has seen himself 
through the prism of a ready and �nished form, he has seen himself from the 
side of the o�cial façade […]. All the poor tailoring of his form, sewn with thick 
stitches, escaped his notice”189. In his summary, however, Gombrowicz empha-
sized that, apart from minor di�erences, Schulz’s thoughts almost coincide with 
his position on Ferdydurke. It seems that Schulz was not satis�ed with this pub-
lication. Perhaps he was concerned with the changes that could have been made 
in the text by the editor of “Skamander”, Mieczysław Grydzewski – Schulz wrote 
about it to Gombrowicz in one of the missing letters. We only know Gombrowicz’s 
reply: “�ere are many great things in it [Schulz’s published speech] and many 
deep places and I’m surprised that you deny it […] Grydz’s corrections did it 
good”190. Years later, Gombrowicz repeatedly mentioned and analysed Schulz’s 
conclusions contained in the article, considering it “one of the most profound 
analyses of Ferdydurke”191, and the reading itself simply an act of heroism. 
According to Jerzy Jarzębski, it was Schulz’s text published in “Skamander”, con-
stituting “an enthusiastic, sel�ess apotheosis” of Ferdydurke, that paved the way 
for Gombrowicz “to the Polish Parnassus”192.

July–October 1938: Depression, Messiah, Paris

In July 1938, in now-lost letters to Gombrowicz, Schulz wrote, among other 
things, about his poor health (Sandauer wrote to Schulz on July 5: “Gombrowicz 
also writes to me that he is concerned about your constant depression”193), as 
well as about the slowly emerging novel Messiah. �ese two issues were probably 
related. Messiah had been in the works for many years, and the creative process 
was to be additionally interrupted by a trip to Paris. Schulz did not reveal details 

188 Ibidem, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 13, p. 281–282.
189 Idem, “Ferdydurke”, in: idem, Szkice krytyczne, p. 144.
190 Idem, Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 13, p. 284.
191 W. Gombrowicz, Testament, p. 47.
192 J. Jarzębski, Schulz, p. 55.
193 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Artur Sandauer, no. III 32, p. 309–310.
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about Messiah, he only counted on a voice of support that would make him 
believe in the sense of continuing to write. On July 19, both Sandauer, who ad-
vised against going to Paris because of Messiah, and Gombrowicz wrote to him: 
“”As for your Messiah, it is di�cult for me to say anything, because I do not know 
this work even in its assumptions – if it gives you the opportunity to refresh 
yourself, so much the better! �is postulate is important not for the sake of your 
art, but for yourself – mentally194.

Ultimately, Schulz decided to go to Paris195, where he arrived on July 31, 
1938. He le� the French capital on August 26, 1938 – three days later, he wrote 
to Romana Halpern that he “got rid of some illusions, about a global career”196. 
Schulz’s triumph in Paris was to come only in the 1960s, when his stories were 
published, as Gombrowicz claimed: “with great honours”, when he was treated 
as “one of the greatest contemporary writers”197.

In October, Schulz stayed in Warsaw for a day and a half. He was in a bad 
mental state. He came to discuss cooperation with “Wiadomości Literackie”, but 
otherwise he did not meet anyone. He did not visit Romana Halpern or Sandauer, 
who both wanted to meet him. He also did not manage to meet Gombrowicz. 
Schulz’s depression is associated with political events198 and the publication in 
“Tygodnik Ilustrowany” about Egga van Haardt199 – a young and talented artist 
who charmed both Schulz and Gombrowicz.

June 1937 – August 1938: Egga van Haardt – “I really like this blonde”

�e history of this fascination probably began in June 1937, when Haardt made 
her debut as an artist, exhibiting her works at Garliński’s Art Salon at ul. 
Mazowiecka 8 in Warsaw. �e exhibition had a motto taken from Treatise on 
Tailor’s Dummies, which appeared in invitations and catalogues200. Moreover, 
the exhibition, consisting of one hundred and ��y cut-out pictures, also presented 
the “most deeply felt” series of illustrations for �e Street of Crocodiles. �e re-
viewer argued that “this book certainly had quite an in�uence on the �nal 

194 Ibidem, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 13, p. 284.
195 For more about Schulz’s trip to Paris, see Ł. Chomycz, Wyjazd Brunona Schulza do Francji, “Schulz/

Forum” 11, 2018.
196 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 110, p. 180.
197 W. Gombrowicz, Listy do rodziny, p. 278–279.
198 In October 1938, Adolf Hitler annexed the Sudetenland, which was part of Czechoslovakia.
199 See B. Schulz, Egga van Haardt, “Tygodnik Ilustrowany”, 2 października 1938, no. 40, p. 773–774.
200 “Our creations will be as if they were makeshift, made for single use. If they are people, we will give 

them, for example, only one side of the face, one arm, one leg, exactly the one they will need” – 
see M. Wallis, Wystawy. Egga Haardt, “Wiadomości Literackie”, 4 lipca 1937, no. 28 (714), p. 6.
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formation of Egga Hardt’s expression, and the sentence quoted at the beginning 
characterizes the entire exhibition very well”201.

Did Egga make contact with Schulz before her �rst opening, or was it only the 
publicity around the exhibition, referring to �e Street of Crocodiles, that prompt-
ed Schulz to make acquaintance with the brilliant artist – it is not known202. 
�ey certainly already knew each other in late 1937. At that time, Gombrowicz 
also became interested in her. At the turn of 1937 and 1938, Egga visited him in 
Zakopane, of which he informed Schulz in a letter of January 9, 1938: “Haardt 
has arrived, I like this blonde very much, she is my type of woman, but she has 
already le�”203. Schulz knew that Egga van Haardt was no longer in Zakopane 
because that day he was leaving Poznań, where they had met and talked for 
several days. Most likely he must have stayed at the apartment of hers and Jerzy 
Brodnicki’s204. Gombrowicz probably mentioned Haardt in his subsequent let-
ters, which Schulz had written about to Roman Halpern. In a letter of January 18, 
1938, he wrote: “Gombrowicz likes Egga Haardt very much, he intends to con-
tinue making this acquaintance in Warsaw since she’s made a great impression 
on him”205. Piotr Sitkiewicz notes that during this period both writers “entered 
into some unspeci�ed competition for the a�ections of the newly met artist”206. 
Romana Halpern, a friend of Schulz and Gombrowicz, noticed this rivalry. She 
probably asked Schulz about it in one of the lost letters she sent to him in January 
1938. She must have inquired asking about Schulz’s commitment and his reac-
tion to Gombrowicz’s announcements. Schulz answered her question in a letter 
of January 23, 1938: “As for Egga Haardt – I am not involved, and the danger of 
involvement is not threatening for me at all. �e only dangerous thing for me is 
a woman’s strong emotional involvement. I am a reactive nature, and it happens 
to me, but even rarely. Nevertheless, I will write to Gombrowicz not to disturb 
me. It is nice of him to be so loyal in the matter”207. Gombrowicz had informed 
Schulz that he intended to continue his relationship with Egga – probably asking 
for his opinion or consent. Schulz declared his lack of involvement, apparently 

201 J. Stokowski, Plastyka. Wystawa Eggi Haardt, “ABC”, 1 lipca 1937, no. 205, p. 4.
202 Anna Kaszuba-Dębska suggests that they made the acquaintance during the exhibition – see 

A. Kaszuba-Dębska, Kobiety i Schulz, Gdańsk 2015, p. 272.
203 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. III 9, p. 278. Even before Gombrowicz’s 

letter was found, Piotr Sitkiewicz deduced from a mysterious note from Kronos that Gombrowicz 
must have met Egga in Zakopane: “Zakopane. Dom Bankowców (?). Skiwski’s article. V. Erdt (?). 
Fear […]” – see P. Sitkiewicz, Bruno Schulz w Poznaniu, “Schulz/Forum” 5, 2015, p. 138.

204 On January 5, he wrote to Zenon Waśniewski: “Your letter reached me in Poznań, where I am stay-
ing with a certain friend […] I am staying with very nice and intelligent people” – B. Schulz, Księga 
listów, letter to Zenon Waśniewski, no. I 48, p. 92.

205 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 95, p. 161.
206 P. Sitkiewicz, Bruno Schulz w Poznaniu, p. 138.
207 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 96, p. 162.
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giving Gombrowicz his permission to develop the bond with Haardt208. Anna 
Kaszuba-Dębska is perhaps right when she claims that Schulz was primarily 
interested in getting in touch with �omas Mann209, which Egga van Haardt 
and Jerzy Brodnicki were supposed to make easier for him210.

In February 1938, Schulz continued to correspond with Egga, as reported 
by Romana Halpern (letter of February 21): “I constantly receive enthusiastic 
comments about my book from Egga Haardt and her friend”211. �ey also 
talked about illustrations for �e Comet, which was to be published soon. In 
March, the correspondence stopped: “Egga Haardt became silent, too”212. �e 
artist replied on March 23, explaining the silence with work and personal trou-
ble. She announced that Schulz’s novella Die Heimkehr, along with her draw-
ings, would be presented to �omas Mann around April 10, when Brodnicki’s 
mother was supposed to reach Zurich213. Egga’s letter was extremely kind and 
friendly. �eir relationship seemed to be at its best. On August 21, �e Comet
was �nally published in “Wiadomości Literackie”, along with eight illustrations 
by Haardt214.

October 1938: Manipulated article in “Tygodnik Ilustrowany”

However, everything changed on October 2, when “Tygodnik Ilustrowany” 
published an article titled “Egga van Haardt”. Before publication, Schulz made 
the manuscript available to the artist so that she could remove the fragments 
that would be, in her opinion, too intimate. However, “Tygodnik” received 
a modi�ed text containing completely new sentences and thoughts that were 
not written by Schulz and which he himself considered “highly distasteful and 
scandalous in form”215. �is was a great cause for concern for him. “Recently, 
I feel very sorry for Egga Haardt, who turned out to be a common scandal-
monger, blackmailer and cheat”216 – he wrote in a letter of October 13. At that 

208 What is surprising, perhaps, is the fact that in Gombrowicz’s two-volume biography, the name of 
Egga van Haardt was mentioned only once, and only in the context of Bruno Schulz’s article.

209 A. Kaszuba-Dębska, Kobiety i Schulz, p. 275 and 279.
210 Egga and “her friend” (as Schulz calls Brodnicki) compared Sanatory Under the Sign of the Hour-

glass with Mann’s The Tales of Jacob and claimed that they would be able to provide Schulz with 
contact with Mann himself. As a result, around April 10, 1938, Brodnicki’s mother, traveling to 
Zurich, brought Mann a novella by Schulz entitled Die Heimkehr with illustrations by Egga van 
Haardt.

211 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 99, p. 166–167.
212 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 103, p. 172.
213 See Ibidem, letter from Egga van Haardt, no. III 39, p. 316.
214 See B. Schulz, Kometa, “Wiadomości Literackie”, 21 sierpnia 1938, no. 35 (774), p. 2–3.
215 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 111, p. 181.
216 Ibidem.
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time, he only contacted Gombrowicz: “Apart from Gombrowicz, I do not receive 
letters from anyone – I am completely abandoned”217. He consulted Gombrowicz, 
too, about the article on Egga van Haardt. He sent him his statement regarding 
the manipulated text and made Gombrowicz his representative for negotiations 
with Wacław Czarski, editor-in-chief of “Tygodnik Ilustrowany”. It was not clear 
from Schulz’s statement who edited the text, so Czarski announced that he would 
have to reveal that the changes were made by Egga van Haardt herself. As 
Gombrowicz reported to his friend, then “the matter would have taken a more 
serious turn, and since your letters show that you are not sure whether Haardt 
has any advantages, I could not take it on my own responsibility”218. If Schulz 
were to decided to publish his explanations, Gombrowicz advised to modify 
them in such a way that they would not require additional comments from the 
editors, he also suggested that it should be noted that “the text was changed 
where it talks about art”219. However, he advised Schulz to keep calm – he an-
nounced that he would inform other editorial o�ces about this manipulation 
in order to avoid comments and press reactions. He also argued that Schulz had 
no reason to worry about the public, because “it doesn’t know anything 
anyway”220.

October 1938: Fear of Egga

Ultimately, Schulz followed Gombrowicz’s advice and did not issue any statement 
regarding the manipulated text. On October 29, 1938, he wrote to Romana 
Halpern: “I will take the opportunity to tell you what made me let this forgery 
go unpunished and not investigate the matter”221. It is not known what “advan-
tages” of Egga prompted Schulz to remain silent on this matter; Piotr Sitkiewicz 
even writes about the writer’s “inde�nite fear” – which he himself admitted in 
a letter to Romana Halpern: “I am afraid of her, because she is a person capable 
of anything”222.

Perhaps it was all about the same thing, i.e. contact with Tomasz Mann. Schulz 
probably still hoped to make contact with the German writer, and an open con-
�ict with Egga, the author of the illustrations for Die Heimkehr, could make it 
di�cult for him. It is not known whether, a�er the publication in “Tygodnik 
Ilustrowany”, Schulz or Gombrowicz ever contacted Haardt – a “participant of the 

217 Ibidem.
218 Ibidem, letter from Witold Gombrowicz, no. I 15, p. 286.
219 Ibidem.
220 Ibidem.
221 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 112, p. 183.
222 Ibidem, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 111, p. 181–182.
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early beginnings” transformed into a smile, “the young ephebus”, “Salamandra”, 
which possessed “all the nuances of creation”223.

At the end of October 1938, Schulz mainly exchanged letters with the author 
of Ferdydurke – “My reduction of correspondence is general and apart from 
Gombrowicz I communicate with no one”224 – apart from Romana Halpern, of 
course, to whom he reported his loneliness.

Emil Breiter – Bruno Schulz’s literary school?

Schulz’s and Gombrowicz’s respective works have been compared many times. 
�ey themselves emphasized primarily the di�erences between them, even 
though Gombrowicz admitted that the common element of their work was liter-
ary mysti�cation225, experimenting with form226 and hermeticity227. We should 
also mention the use of the grotesque, trash, parody and combining autobio-
graphical and literary themes228. Sometimes some plot similarities were pointed 
out, for example Ferdydurke was claimed to be based on an idea from Schulz’s 
short story entitled “Emeryt” [A Pensioner]229. �eir respective texts were jux-
taposed in a rather unfortunate manner by Emil Breiter in an article published 
on May 29, 1938 in “Wiadomości Literackie”. While positively reviewing 
Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass, Breiter wrote in the summary that 
Schulz created a literary school, which included, among others, Gombrowicz230. 
Of course, this was not true and must have made both writers uncomfortable. 
Schulz, perhaps at Gombrowicz’s instigation, wrote a correction to the editor of 
“Wiadomości Literackie”, regarding Breiter’s argument. It was an uncomfortable 
situation for him. He had the impression that little was said or written about 
Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass, and one of the few reviews required 
his intervention. He tried to handle it in “as delicate a form as possible”, so as 
not to o�end a favourable critic, and at the same time do justice to Gombrowicz231. 

223 Bruno Schulz, Egga van Haardt, in: idem, Szkice krytyczne, p. 150–151.
224 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, no. I 112, p. 183.
225 W. Gombrowicz, Łańcuch nietaktów, p. 278–279.
226 Idem, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 663.
227 Witold Gombrowicz, letter to François Bondy of February 21, 1962, in: R. Gombrowicz, Gombrow-

icz w Europie. Świadectwa i dokumenty 1963–1969, przekład O. Hedemann, M. Ochab, J. Juryś, 
W. Karpiński, J. Jarzębski, tekst polskiego wydania przejrzał J. Jarzębski, Kraków 1993, p. 93.

228 Based on these similarities, Aleksander Fiut includes Schulz and Gombrowicz among postmod-
ernist writers in the avant la lettre school, see A. Fiut, Pojedynek o doktorową z Wilczej, p. 162–163.

229 P. Kuncewicz, Schulz i Gombrowicz, “Przegląd Tygodniowy” 1984, no. 30, p. 27–30.
230 E. Breiter, “Sanatorjum pod Klepsydrą” Schulza, “Wiadomości Literackie”, 29 maja 1938, no. 23 

(762), p. 4.
231 It is interesting that in a letter from May 28, 1938 to Romana Halpern (“You have probably read 

Breiter’s review about me”), Schulz not only described the review that was published a day later, i.e. 
on May 29, 1938, but also had already written and sent to Mieczysław Grydzewski his corrections.
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“I felt very sorry for Breiter, but I considered it a duty of loyalty to Gombrowicz”232. 
Schulz’s corrective text was published in “Wiadomości Literackie” on June 19, 
1938233. In it, Schulz proved the complete originality and uniqueness of the 
author Ferdydurke: “He operates in a completely di�erent dimension of reality 
than I do, he belongs – despite appearances suggesting the contrary – to a com-
pletely di�erent writing family and to a di�erent spiritual formation”234. 
Developing this idea, he used phrases such as: “incommensurability of internal 
worlds”, “di�erence”, “individuality”, “autonomy”, “distinctiveness”. So what was 
the result of this combination of the works of such di�erent and independent 
writers? Schulz replied: “Our names and work must have been associated by 
some accident, by coincidence, that is, the relative simultaneity of the occur-
rence, the bluntness of the treatment of conventional reality (having di�erent 
sources in both cases), and especially the di�culty to classify the texts, common 
to both”235. However, Schulz and Gombrowicz believed that a strong voice from 
the outside was still needed, clearly demarcating their work. Both of them in-
dividually suggested to Sandauer that he should write an article in this tone: 
“A few days ago I received a letter from Gombrowicz in which (like you) he 
proposes that I write an article demarcating your works in opposition to 
Breiter”236.

Despite Schulz’s immediate reaction to the review in “Wiadomości Literackie”, 
the myth of the “Schulz group” continued to circulate widely237. An example 
is Stefan Pomer’s writing about Franz Ka�a: “Su�ce it to say that in Poland 
one of his followers, Bruno Schulz, has already managed to create something 
of a literary school and the most interesting young Polish prose writers, such 
as Rudnicki, Gombrowicz, Ważyk, Kuczyński, Otwinowski, etc., actually come 
from this Jewish-Czech writer”238.

232 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Romana Halpern, I 106, p. 176.
233 The correction was printed on the last page, in the correspondence section, under the title Schulz 

i Gombrowicz, see B. Schulz, Schulz i Gombrowicz. Do redaktora “Wiadomości Literackich”, 
“Wiadomości Literackie”, 19 czerwca 1938, no. 26 (765), p. 8.

234 B. Schulz, Księga listów, letter to Mieczysław Grydzewski, I 72, p. 127.
235 Ibidem.
236 Ibidem, letter from Artur Sandauer, no. III 32, p. 309.
237 Even though both writers �rmly denied that they represented a common literary school, in Japan 

the works of Schulz and Gombrowicz were published together. In 1967, a volume was published 
in Tokyo containing The Street of Crocodiles, Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass and Gom-
browicz’s Cosmos. In 1977, Schulz’s works were re-published in Japanese, this time accompanied 
by Ferdydurke.

238 S. Pomer, Literatura na szerokim świecie, “5ta rano”, 16 października 1938, no. 287 (2887), p. 11.
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Sandauer and Vogler

Gombrowicz wrote years later that Schulz and himself were more connected by 
public opinion than they were by each other239. Of ground-breaking importance 
here were primarily the articles of Artur Sandauer, who included both writers 
in the “school of mythologists”240, and Henryk Vogler, who wrote: “Bruno Schulz 
and Witold Gombrowicz are the two most outstanding and most characteristic 
young Polish �ction writers. �ey lock themselves within the boundaries of their 
individuality – those features that distinguish Polish literature from other 
European literatures””241. In turn, Artur Sandauer, shortly a�er Schulz’s speech 
on Ferdydurke, on January 22, 1938, gave a lecture in Cracow, in the hall of the 
Jewish �eatre Society at ul. Stolarska 9, titled Fantasy and Weirdness in the New 
Polish Literature dedicated to the works of Schulz and Gombrowicz242.

National-radical criticism

But Gombrowicz and Schulz were compared not only by critics enthusiastic 
about their work. Literary critics associated with the national movement were 
also eager to compare them and attack as representatives of the so-called young 
literature. Jerzy Andrzejewski wrote in the national-radical “Prosto z Mostu” 
(February 10, 1935) about poverty of thought and ideas, the social harmfulness 
and anti-Polish character of such works: “You will need the devil to �nd some-
thing Polish in the books by Choromański, Gombrowicz, Rudnicki, Schultz 
and Uniłowski”. �e Polishness of their works probably lies only in the fact that 
they are written in Polish, not always in a grammatically correct language, not 
to mention its spiritual purity”243. Gombrowicz reacted to these accusations 
by sending his response to the weekly’s editorial o�ce, which was published 
on March 3, 1935244. He noticed that it was quite risky to include the forty-
year-old Schulz among young artists, and that for his own artistic development, 

239 W. Gombrowicz, Wspomnienia polskie, p. 92.
240 See A. Sandauer, Szkoła mitologów. Bruno Schulz i Witold Gombrowicz, “Pion”, 6 lutego 1938, no. 5 

(226), p. 4. On the day the article was published, Schulz wrote to Romana Halpern: “‘Pion’ has 
published an article by Sandauer as a review [...]” and a dozen or so days later he emphasized that 
there was “a beautiful article about me (mainly) and Gombrowicz” – see B. Schulz, Księga listów, 
letter to Romana Halpern, I 97 i I 99, p. 164 and 166.

241 H. Vogler, Dwa światy romantyczne. O Brunonie Schulzu i Witoldzie Gombrowiczu, “Skamander”, 
październik–grudzień 1938, z. 99/101, p. 246. See also: H. Vogler, Świat rozszczątkowany, “Nowy 
Dziennik”, 27 listopada 1937, no. 326, p. 8.

242 Z teatru, literatury i sztuki, “Nowy Dziennik”, 20 stycznia 1938, no. 20, p. 15.
243 J. Andrzejewski, Młoda literatura oskarżona, “Prosto z Mostu”, 10 lutego 1935, no. 6, p. 4.
244 See W. Gombrowicz, Atmosfera i kot. (W odpowiedzi p. J. Andrzejewskiemu), “Prosto z Mostu”, 

3 marca 1935, no. 9, p. 4.
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the cat incident and friendship with Kowalski were more important than the 
war. He expressed his respect for national values245, but he questioned the 
necessity of national culture to remain the only kind of creative work. He called 
the categorical assessment of young literature completely accidental and base-
less: “Let us imagine that Schulz, Rudnicki and me were run over by a tram 
while traveling in Aleje Ujazdowskie. Only Choromański and Uniłowski would 
remain, the percentage of disease in young literature would decrease signi�-
cantly, and then, with equal ease and eloquence, Mr. Andrzejewski could write 
an article showing how the post-war atmosphere had a positive impact on 
artistic creativity”246.

Ignacy Fik and “Literatura choromaniaków”

At the same time, on February 23, 1935, “Tygodnik Artistów” also published an 
article by Ignacy Fik “Literatura choromaniaków”247, in which both Gombrowicz 
and Schulz248 were included in the mainstream of pathological-manic literature 
(Fik uses such phrases as: chatter, delirium, dull bureaucracy, disgusting exhibi-
tionism, anti-social literature, psychological reportage mania) that is created by 
“homosexuals, exhibitionists and psychopaths, degenerates, drug addicts, people 
with chronic stomach diseases, permanently living in hospitals, people who 
cannot distinguish between reality and sleep, hypochondriacs, neurasthenics, 
misanthropes”249, and also fanatics, psychic reporters and hacks. Fik wrote the 
following about Schulz, speci�cally: “�e air and people of his book smell of the 
madness of a man’s brain overwhelmed with a disease, addicted to dreams”; and 
this is what he wrote about Gombrowicz: “Gombrowicz’s columns are o�en just 
the compromising deliriums of an idiot”250. �ese and other aggressive attacks 
on avant-garde work may have brought Schulz and Gombrowicz closer together 
than Sandauer’s enthusiastic comparisons. In this case, Gombrowicz again took 
up the defence and said directly: “We are not sick and we are not maniacs”. He 
also ridiculed the author’s attempt to put so many di�erent artists into one cat-
egory called “disease”. In Gombrowicz’s view, maniacal and aggressive attacks on 
artists looking for a new path were, in fact, symptoms of a disorder: “Columnists 
would like to deal with people too easily, too cheaply handle people of hard work, 

245 Perhaps he needed his answer to be published in the weekly, or perhaps he did not want to be 
beaten by ONR’s militants. He mentioned this fear in a conversation with Dominik de Roux.

246 W. Gombrowicz, Atmosfera i kot. (W odpowiedzi p. J. Andrzejewski), in: idem, Varia 1, p. 150.
247 See I. Fik, Literatura choromaniaków, p. 1–2.
248 Additionally: Witkiewicz, Kaden-Bandrowski, Choromański, Krzywicka, Rudnicki, Ważyk, 

Uniłowski.
249 I. Fik, Literatura choromaniaków, p. 1.
250 Ibidem, p. 2.
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of low income and of a di�erent spiritual structure. �is is by no means healthy. 
On the contrary, it is pure morbidity”251.

Super�cial similarities

Articles by Sandauer and Vogler, and probably also by Andrzejewski and Fik, 
and by Maria Wrześniewska-Kruczkowska252, had a great impact on linking 
the work and artistic biographies of Schulz and Gombrowicz, but their corre-
spondence in “Studio” and Schulz’s reading about Ferdydurke in the headquarters 
of the trade union were of huge importance, too. �e writers themselves worked 
to make the public and critics associate their names with each other. Works 
comparing their work are still being written to this day. According to Jerzy 
Jarzębski, however, the literary similarities between the prose of Schulz and 
Gombrowicz are super�cial: “In the former’s, the ontology of literary reality 
assumes the interchangeability of shapes-masks, strictly subordinated to “mytho-
logical syntax”, which is ruled by an exemplary order; in the latter’s, metamor-
phoses are a surprise not only for the characters, but also for the narrator – and 
the author; reality escapes the creator’s control”253. What unites them, according 
to Vogler, is a single moment in which “both approach life not through the 
wide-open gate of naturalistic epic observation, but through the backdoor of 
lyricism, through a side door hidden deep from the eyes of sober, normal ob-
servers in the thicket of enchanted �owers […]. But immediately a�er crossing 
this mysterious passage, Schulz’s and Gombrowicz’s paths go their separate 
ways”254. Di�erences between artistic inclinations of both writers revealed 
themselves most vividly during their open correspondence in the monthly 
“Studio” – despite a stormy exchange of thoughts, concepts and blows, no agree-
ment was reached between them. Gombrowicz and Schulz actually spoke dif-
ferent languages. Aleksander Fiut writes that this duel could not have suc-
ceeded: “Both fencers �ght with various arms and were taught fencing in other 
schools”255.

251 W. Gombrowicz, “O myślach chudych”, in: idem, Varia 1, p. 193.
252 Maria Wrześniewska-Kruczkowska is the author of a story that is a pastiche of the work of, among 

others, Schulz and Gombrowicz, which was published on December 19, 1937, in “Apel”, a supple-
ment to “Kurier Poranny” – see M. Wrześniewska-Kruczkowska, Psychostenik. Gombrowiczowi, 
Karpińskiemu i Schulzowi, “Schulz/Forum” 8, 2016; as well as P. Sitkiewicz, À la manière de Bruno 
Schulz. Pastisz parodia i naśladowanie Brunona Schulza w okresie dwudziestolecia międzywojennego, 
“Schulz/Forum” 8, 2016, p. 124–125.

253 J. Jarzębski, Gra w Gombrowicza, p. 208.
254 H. Vogler, Dwa światy romantyczne. O Brunonie Schulzu i Witoldzie Gombrowiczu, “Skamander”, 

październik–grudzień 1938, z. 99/101, p. 246.
255 A. Fiut, Pojedynek o doktorową z Wilczej, p. 158.
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1939: Transatlantic to Argentina

Gombrowicz and Schulz both tried to publish their books abroad. In the spring 
of 1939, they met the Italian writer Massimo Bontempelli, but the meeting did 
not bring the expected results256. Gombrowicz was already thinking about leav-
ing Poland. In July 1939, he received a tourist visa and permission from the mili-
tary authorities to go abroad. On July 28, he le� Warsaw, and a day later he sailed 
from Gdynia to the port of Buenos Aires, where he arrived on August 20, 1939257. 
Once there, he had to face a new, di�cult reality and numerous problems in the 
life of a lonely emigrant.

1941–1945: Concern for the fate of a friend

It is unknown whether Gombrowicz wrote any letters to Bruno Schulz a�er reach-
ing Argentina. He probably had no contact with him since the outbreak of the 
war. He was tormented by uncertainty about his friend’s fate, and he asked others 
if they knew anything. In June 1941, he wrote to Julian Tuwim: “Don’t you know 
what is happening to B. Schulz?”258. On October 15, 1941, he wrote a dramatic 
letter to Józef Wittlin, in which he complained about his hopeless situation and 
asked for help. When writing about his problems, he did not forget about 
Schulz259.

Wittlin tried to help Gombrowicz, but he had no information whatsoever. On 
December 16, 1941, Gombrowicz sent him another letter in which he informed: 
“I am extremely concerned about the fate of Bruno Schulz, with whom I was 
a great friend”260. It is unknown when and from whom he learned about the 
death of Schulz, who was murdered on November 19, 1942. He certainly knew 
this already in January 1945, when he wrote a letter to Adam Mauersberg: “Write 
to me about your fate and the fate of your friends. How did Bruno die?”261. 
Mauersberg, their mutual friend, did not know the answer to this question. Two 
years later, Gombrowicz repeated his request: “I would like to know more about 
the circumstances of poor Bruno’s death”262. In response to these questions, 

256 Italian publishing houses which Schulz approached already in 1937 were not interested in pub-
lishing his works – see J. Ficowski, Regiony wielkiej herezji i okolice, p. 82 and 499.

257 See K. Suchanow, Gombrowicz, vol. 1, p. 355.
258 Quoted after: ibid, p. 407.
259 W. Gombrowicz, Walka o sławę. Korespondencja, część pierwsza. Witold Gombrowicz. Józef Wittlin. 

Jarosław Iwaszkiewicz. Artur Sandauer, układ, przedmowy, przypisy J. Jarzębski, Kraków 1996, p. 7.
260 Ibidem, p. 8.
261 Idem, Listy do Adama Mauersbergera, Łódź 1988, letter no. 1.
262 Ibidem, letter no. 2.
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he received false information from someone that Schulz had died in a German 
concentration camp.

1955–1960: “Bruno? Write about him? No”.

A�er the war, Gombrowicz o�en recalled his friendship with Bruno Schulz – in 
conversations with friends263, in private letters to family and friends, as well as 
in the memoirs he prepared for publication. Most o�en, these are short mentions,
reminiscences of the old friendship. In 1955, he wrote in Dziennik: “Bruno 
Schulz’s �e Street of Crocodiles, a thing of a di�erent kind, of high rank”264. In 
1956, he received an article from Sandauer about Schulz’s work titled 
“Rzeczywistość zdegradowana” [Degraded Reality]. On September 7, 1956, 
Gombrowicz wrote back that he thanked and paid tribute to such an in-depth 
and extensive text “about poor Bruno, with whom, as you know, I enjoyed 
a friendship”265. Gombrowicz also emphasizes that Schulz himself and his work 
are a topic that could be talked about a lot. Despite this declaration, at that time 
he had no need to write longer texts about his old friend. In correspondence 
from September 19, 1956, in response to a question from his older brother for 
a text about Schulz replied: “Bruno? Write about him? No”266. In 1957, Ferdydurke
was published again in Poland, which was widely commented on in the national 
press. Gombrowicz discussed the matter, too, in Dziennik: “�ey didn’t under-
stand exactly everything about me […] I’m resigned”267. �is feeling of resigna-
tion made Gombrowicz come back to the classic text that most accurately per-
meated his work and the mechanisms that govern it. Contemporary critics did 
not notice the full depth of meaning of the novel, but “Bruno Schulz saw it in his 
study about Ferdydure, printed in the pre-war ‘Skamander’”268. His insight was 
so penetrating, Gombrowicz recalled, that through Ferdydurke Schulz reached 
the “most important” issue in it, and at the same time touched his subsequent 
works – as if Schulz’s text was a prophetic discussion of Gombrowicz’s entire 
oeuvre. In 1960, still in his Diary, he wrote: “I owe a lot to several writers who 
supported me, starting with the outstanding Bruno Schulz”269. Was this “today” 
related to the �rst translations of Schulz’s single stories into English and French? 

263 See R. Pla, “Wywiad przeprowadzony w listopadzie 1978 w Buenos Aires”, in: R. Gombrowicz, 
Gombrowicz w Argentynie. Świadectwa i dokumenty 1939–1969, przekł. Z. Chądzyńska, A. Husarska, 
Kraków 2005, p. 44.

264 W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 257.
265 Idem, Walka o sławę, p. 179.
266 Idem, Listy do rodziny, p. 62.
267 Idem, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 339.
268 Ibidem, p. 342–343.
269 Ibidem, p. 584.
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Or maybe with the publishing house’s plans of René Julliard, who was soon to 
present Schulz’s work to French-speaking readers?

1961: Could Gombrowicz be jealous of Schulz?

�e year 1961 turned out to be a breakthrough for Gombrowicz’s memories about 
Schulz. It was then, in July 1961, that the �rst comprehensive collection of
Schulz’ws stories in French was published under the title Traité des manne-
quins270, which was a selection of stories from Sklepy cynamonowe and 
Sanatorium pod Klepsydrą. On July 3, 1961, Gombrowicz informed his brother: 
“Schulz’s Sklepy cynamonowe […] was published in Paris. I won’t be surprised if 
Bruno now climbs to the highest rungs of world literature because his is an excel-
lent art, though too Ka�aesque for my taste271. In a letter of July 17, 1961, he 
wrote to Artur Sandauer that he had predicted this book would be a great success 
because it was “literature for writers, poetry for poets”272. Another time, on 
August 7, 1961, he wondered: “I am very curious about what will happen next 
in other countries with this truly great prose”273. It seems, therefore, that 
Gombrowicz looked at the French edition of Schulz’s works with curiosity and 
optimism. However, Maurice Nadeau, responsible for publishing Traité des man-
nequins, claimed that Gombrowicz was an egocentric who could not come to 
terms with the idea that his publisher had to deal with other writers as well: “He 
did not accept it with great joy that, for example, I was interested in Bruno 
Schulz”274. Indeed, something strange happened shortly a�er the publication of 
Schulz’s works. Gombrowicz resented Sandauer for avoiding conversations with 
him about Schulz, and for making the publication of his works in French, to-
gether with Nadeau, a secret: “Why exactly are you avoiding one subject with 
me? S… S… Sch… Sch… Schulz…? Do you perhaps think you cheated on me 
with him? Do you think I am jealous? Do you accuse me of persecuting him?!”275. 
In a letter from October 6, 1961, Gombrowicz explained: “�is dunce, Sandauer, 
apparently avoids writing to me about Bruno, as if he were ashamed or afraid, 
or maybe thought that I am jealous – I wrote a few words for him to listen to”276. 
Could Gombrowicz be jealous of Schulz? He seems to have reacted with 

270 B. Schulz, Traité des mannequins, traduit du polonais par S. Arlet, A. Kosko, G. Lisowski, G. Sidre, 
préface d’A. Sandauer, Paris 1961.

271 W. Gombrowicz, Listy do rodziny, p. 273.
272 See Idem, Walka o sławę, p. 247.
273 Idem, Listy do rodziny, p. 279.
274 M. Nadeau, “Wspomnienie spisane w Paryżu 17 czerwca 1986”, in: R. Gombrowicz, Gombrowicz 

w Europie, p. 99.
275 See W. Gombrowicz, Walka o sławę, p. 248.
276 Idem, Listy do rodziny, p. 283.
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counterarguments to every idolatrous mention Sandauer made of Schulz’s work, 
for example raising the issue of the excessive “Ka�esque-ness” of Schulz’s prose. 
It was Gombrowicz style to have a di�erent opinion, to provoke and to stand 
your ground. He also explained this to some extent: “And the fact that I am not 
that much of an admirer of his art as you are… well, what’s the big deal?”277. 
Indeed, Gombrowicz repeatedly emphasized his appreciation of Schulz’s work, 
but almost always pointed out its shortcomings, too – for example in a letter to 
Józef Wittlin of June 25, 1952: “Bruno is a wonderful talent. Some of his things 
are dazzling (but he couldn’t combine poetry with prose, he couldn’t unite these 
two aspects of the world – which is extremely important to me”278, or to Sandauer 
himself: “I also admire him as an artist, some of his works are brilliant – only his 
placement in actuality does not seem fertile enough to me”279. Gombrowicz 
appreciated Schulz’s prose, but he did not worship it – could this have been the 
cause of the con�ict?

Perhaps Sandauer and Nadeau were afraid of the hot-tempered writer who 
fought for his fame at every turn. Otto Mertens, Gombrowicz’s doctor, recalled 
that the author of Ferdydurke was amazed to see illustrations for Schulz’s stories 
on the walls of his house. It turned out that Mertens was fascinated by �e Street 
of Crocodiles so much so that he commissioned artist friends to make paintings 
inspired by “�e Tailor’s Dummies”. “When Gombrowicz saw them, he didn’t like 
them very much. He also didn’t like the fact that I was a Schulz enthusiast and 
didn’t know Gombrowicz yet!”280. But in the case of translating Schulz’s stories 
into French, there could be no competition. Gombrowicz himself stated that 
Schulz’s greatness worked to his advantage281. It is also untrue that the French 
edition of Schulz’s stories was kept secret. Sandauer informed Gombrowicz about 
this in at least four letters: July 14 and 20, 1959, March 5, 1960 and May 26, 
1960282. He himself wrote in Dziennik that he had known about this edition for 
a long time283. �e book was supposed to be published a year earlier, but the 
publishing house had problems with obtaining the copyright from Ella Schulz-
Podstolska284. �e cause of the con�ict must have been di�erent.

277 See Idem, Walka o sławę, p. 249.
278 Ibidem, p. 46.
279 Ibidem, p. 247.
280 O. Mertens, “Wypowiedź spisana w Berlinie 24 października 1984”, in: R. Gombrowicz, Gombrow-

icz w Europie, p. 252.
281 “Not only does Bruno’s greatness not bother me, but from a personal point of view, it may be 

useful in France, because it also draws attention to me” – W. Gombrowicz, Walka o sławę, p. 248.
282 For all listed letters, see W. Gombrowicz, Walka o sławę.
283 “I have known about this edition for a long time, and have been preparing it with the sweat of my 

brow” – W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik…, p. 654.
284 See Idem, Walka o sławę, p. 240.
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On July 17, 1961, Gombrowicz sent a long letter to Sandauer, almost entirely 
devoted to Schulz. He declared that he had already received Traitédes manne-
quins, praised the introduction by Sandauer, called the translation very good and 
announced his willingness to write a longer text about Schulz for Dziennik. He 
opened up, declaring that when he saw the French edition of his friend’s works, he 
was moved: “�is book brings back many memories for me. Did you know that 
I was a good friend of his and that he fought a heroic battle for Ferdydurke?”285. 
He also honestly assessed Schulz’s work: “As for his art, I have never been a 100% 
reader of it – I always thought it was too narrow and too arbitrary, also detached, 
not closely related to reality […] For me, Bruno was too much of a poet, too much 
of an artist. (He had a feeling of the insigni�cance of art, but he knew nothing to 
oppose it.) And yet too close to Ka�a. �ere is much to say about the matter”286. 
�e letter clearly shows that everything related to Schulz was extremely important 
to Gombrowicz – because of his art, shared friendship and memories. Sandauer 
ignored this personal tone. �is seems to have enraged Gombrowicz, who hoped 
that he would also reach Schulz through their mutual friend, who was an admirer 
of his work. �erefore, there is no indication that Gombrowicz was really jealous 
of Schulz. On the contrary, he never expressed any envy.

1961: Schulz in France – “We are a couple again”

Schulz’s entry into the French publishing market was for Gombrowicz like the 
return of a long-forgotten friend who has �nally entered the wide waters of world 
literature. “�ere is something strange and perhaps even slightly touching to me 
in the fact that we are a couple again – this time in the wide world”287. For 
Gombrowicz, it was a moving experience, which he mentioned several times in 
his correspondence from that period. On July 3, 1961, he wrote: “�is meeting 
with him a�er so many years at Julliard moved me quite a bit, I was close to him 
and he was the �rst to make a fuss about Ferdydurke”288. He used a similar tone 
in a letter of August 1, 1961 to Maurice Nadeau himself. He wrote about Traité 
des mannequins, claiming that Sandauer’s analysis was great, Nadeau’s introduc-
tion seemed “electrifying”, and the entire publication would, in his opinion, be 
a great success289.

285 See ibidem, p. 246.
286 See ibidem, p. 240.
287 Ibidem, p. 247.
288 Idem, Listy do rodziny, p. 273.
289 Gombrowicz would later repeat more or less the same theses in Fragment z dziennika.
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He also admitted his emotion again: “I am excited by the fact that I am meet-
ing him again a�er twenty years, this time through your publishing series”290. 
Inspired by the French edition of Schulz’s stories, Gombrowicz decided to write 
a longer memoir. On August 7, 1961, he �nished writing “Fragment z dziennika” 
[Fragment from a diary] dedicated to Schulz. �e text was published in November 
1961 in the Paris monthly “Kultura”291.

Gombrowicz’s account from that text is, above all, a literary creation. 
Aleksander Fiut will even call it fabrication and mysti�cation292. Gombrowicz 
himself admitted: “I will probably write about Bruno in a somewhat shocking 
way, because I do not want to fall into the convention of these ‘memoirs’”293. 
So, based partly on facts from their shared biographies, he created an image of 
a one-sided friendship that was maintained by Schulz himself and in which he 
never repaid him in any way. �ere is no longer any talk of a “great friendship” 
or “poor Bruno” or a “great late friend” about whom Gombrowicz asked with 
concern, and then mentioned him in his letters. In this case, Gombrowicz dazzled 
with the image of Schulz’s outstretched hand that falls into the void – and in his 
opinion this was an extremely Schulzian predicament. “I did not return these 
feelings to him, I gave him terribly little of myself, almost nothing”294 – these 
words alone show what Gombrowicz was striving for. To destroy the form of the 
parable of the dead friend that everyone would probably expect. “A provocation 
then? Surely. But what is it aimed at? First of all, at genre norms that control the 
recipient’s expectations”295. �at is why Gombrowicz chose to highlight the 
“weirdness” of their relationship. �at is why he wrote that he did not trust Schulz 
or his art and that he never read his stories honestly because they bored him. He 
listed an entire catalogue of what made them di�erent: in physical, racial, class, 
spiritual, artistic terms – and came to the inevitable, but absurd, conclusion that 
“if there was anyone in Polish art who was 100% opposed to me, it was him”296.

1969–2021

Gombrowicz died on July 24, 1969 in Vence, France. An entry in �e Diary was the 
last text he devoted to Schulz. However, in 1977, the Paris Literary Institute published 
Wspomnienia polskie, found a year earlier by the deceased writer’s wife, Rita Gombrowicz. 
�is is a series of columns written between November 1959 and October in 1961. In one 

290 Idem, letter to Maurice Nadeau of August 1, 1961, in: R. Gombrowicz, Gombrowicz w Europie, p. 112.
291 See W. Gombrowicz, Fragment z dziennika, “Kultura”, listopad 1961, no. 11 (169), p. 16–26.
292 A. Fiut, Pojedynek o doktorową z Wilczej, p. 157.
293 W. Gombrowicz, Walka o sławę, p. 247.
294 Idem, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 656.
295 A. Fiut, Pojedynek o doktorową z Wilczej, p. 157.
296 W. Gombrowicz, Dziennik 1953–1968, p. 658.
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of them, from February 1961, Gombrowicz described in detail his acquaintance with 
Schulz. �is is one of the important testimonies of their parallel biographies, subject 
to much less literary mysti�cation than “Fragment z dziennika”, which was published 
several months later.

Since then, several dozen biographical articles and pieces of literary criticism 
have been written comparing the prose of Gombrowicz and Schulz. �ese include texts 
by Artur Sandauer297, Jerzy Jarzębski298, Włodzimierz Bolecki299 and many young 
researchers. �e number of such works is constantly growing.

297 A. Sandauer, Schulz i Gombrowicz, czyli literatura głębin. (Próba psychoanalizy), “Kultura” 1976, no. 
44, p. 5; no. 45, p. 4.

298 J. Jarzębski, Awangarda wobec historii: Witkacy, Schulz, Gombrowicz, “Odra” 1987, no. 11, p. 23–30; 
idem, “Między awangardą a modernizmem: Witkacy, Schulz, Gombrowicz”, in: idem, W Polsce, 
czyli wszędzie. Szkice o polskiej prozie współczesnej, Warszawa 1992, p. 7–18; idem, Bóg ateistów: 
Schulz, Gombrowicz, Lem, “Znak” 1997, no. 2, p. 17–33.

299 W. Bolecki, Witkacy, Schulz, Gombrowicz, “Dialog” 1995, no. 10, p. 88–99.


